

Department of State
Division of Publications
 312 Rosa L. Parks Ave., 8th Floor, Snodgrass/TN Tower
 Nashville, TN 37243
 Phone: 615-741-2650
 Email: publications.information@tn.gov

For Department of State Use Only

Sequence Number: 06-32-23
 Rule ID(s): 9900
 File Date: 6/27/2023
 Effective Date: 9/25/2023

Rulemaking Hearing Rule(s) Filing Form

Rulemaking Hearing Rules are rules filed after and as a result of a rulemaking hearing (Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-5-205).

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-5-229, any new fee or fee increase promulgated by state agency rule shall take effect on July 1, following the expiration of the ninety (90) day period as provided in § 4-5-207. This section shall not apply to rules that implement new fees or fee increases that are promulgated as emergency rules pursuant to § 4-5-208(a) and to subsequent rules that make permanent such emergency rules, as amended during the rulemaking process. In addition, this section shall not apply to state agencies that did not, during the preceding two (2) fiscal years, collect fees in an amount sufficient to pay the cost of operating the board, commission or entity in accordance with § 4-29-121(b).

Agency/Board/Commission:	Department of Labor and Workforce Development
Division:	Bureau of Workers' Compensation
Contact Person:	Amanda Terry
Address:	220 French Landing Drive, Nashville, TN
Zip:	37243
Phone:	615-253-1847
Email:	amanda.terry@tn.gov

Revision Type (check all that apply):

- Amendment Content based on previous emergency rule filed on _____
 New Content is identical to the emergency rule
 Repeal

Rule(s) (ALL chapters and rules contained in filing must be listed here. If needed, copy and paste additional tables to accommodate multiple chapters. Please make sure that ALL new rule and repealed rule numbers are listed in the chart below. Please enter only ONE Rule Number/Rule Title per row.)

Chapter Number	Chapter Title
0800-02-17	Rules for Medical Payments
Rule Number	Rule Title
0800-02-17-.01	Purpose and Scope
0800-02-17-.03	Definitions
0800-02-17-.05	Procedure Codes, Adoption of the CMS Medicare Procedures, Guidelines, Amounts, Rate Tables
0800-02-17-.06	Procedures for Which Codes or Values Are Not Listed
0800-02-17-.07	Modifier Codes
0800-02-17-.08	Total Procedures Billed Separately
0800-02-17-.09	Independent Medical Examination to Evaluate Medical Aspects of a Case
0800-02-17-.10	Payment
0800-02-17-.13	Penalties for Violations of Fee Schedule Rules
0800-02-17-.14	Missed Appointment
0800-02-17-.15	Medical Report of Initial Visit and Progress Reports for Other than In-patient Hospital Care

Chapter Number	Chapter Title
0800-02-17	Rules for Medical Payments
Rule Number	Rule Title
0800-02-17-.17	Deposition/Witness Appearances
0800-02-17-.19	Preauthorization
0800-02-17-.21	Deposition/Witness Appearances
0800-02-17-.22	Committee Review of Fee Schedule Disputes/Hearing
0800-02-17-.24	Provider and Facility Fees for Copies of Medical Records
0800-02-17-.25	Impairment Ratings-Evaluations and in Medical Records

Amended Rules
Chapter 0800-02-17
Rules for Medical Payments

Rule 0800-02-17-.01 Purpose and Scope, is amended by deleting paragraph (1) in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

(1) Purpose:

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 50-6-204, this chapter, together with the Medical Fee Schedule Rules, Chapter 0800-02-18-.01 et seq., and the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, Chapter 0800-02-19-.01 et seq., (collectively hereinafter "Rules") are hereby adopted by the Administrator in order to establish a comprehensive medical fee schedule and a related system which includes, but is not limited to, procedures for review of bills, enforcement procedures and appeal hearings. The Administrator promulgates these Rules to establish the maximum allowable fees for health care services falling within the purview of the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law ("Law"). This chapter shall be used in conjunction with the Medical Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-18) and the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-19). The Rules establish maximum allowable fees and procedures for all medical care and services provided to any employee claiming medical benefits under the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law. Employers and providers may negotiate and contract or pay lesser fees as are agreeable between them, but in no event shall reimbursement be in excess of the Rules, subject to the civil penalties prescribed in the Rules, as assessed by, and in the discretion of, the Administrator, the Administrator's designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator. These Rules are applicable only to those injured employees claiming benefits under the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.01 Purpose and Scope, paragraph (2) is amended by deleting subparagraph (c) in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the subparagraph shall read:

- (c) Establish procedures by which a health care provider shall be paid the lesser of: (1) the provider's usual bill, (2) the maximum fee established under these Rules, or (3) the MCO/PPO or any other negotiated and contracted or lower price, where applicable, unless a waiver is granted by the administrator.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.01 Purpose and Scope, paragraph (2) is amended by deleting subparagraph (i) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the subparagraph shall read:

- (i) Establish the effective date for implementation of these Rules. Adopt by reference as part of these Rules the International Classification of Diseases, ICD-9-CM and ICD-10-CM, the American Medical Association's Current Procedural Terminology (CPT®) and Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS-Medicare) guidelines, Medical Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-18), the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule (Chapter 0800-02-19) and any amendments to them.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.03 Definitions, is amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

The following definitions are for the purposes of and are applicable to the Rules for Medical Payments (Chapter 0800-02-17), the Medical Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-18) and the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule SS-7039 (November 2022)

Rules (Chapter 0800-02-19):

- (1) "Law" means Tennessee's Workers' Compensation Law, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 50-6-101 et seq. as currently enacted by the Tennessee General Assembly, specifically including any future enactments by the Tennessee General Assembly involving amendments, deletions, additions, repeals, or any other modification, in any form of the Workers' Compensation Law.
- (2) "Adjust" means that an employer changes a health care provider's request for payment, including but not limited to:
 - (a) Applies the maximum fee allowable under these Rules;
 - (b) Applies an agreed upon discount to the provider's usual bill, in accordance with the requirement in T.C.A. § 50-6-215;
 - (c) Adjusts to a usual and customary amount when the maximum fee is By Report (BR);
 - (d) Reduces or denies all or part of a properly submitted bill for payment as a result of bill review;
 - (e) Recodes a procedure.
- (3) "Administrator" means the Chief Administrative Officer of the Bureau of Workers' Compensation or the Administrator's designee.
- (4) "Appropriate care" means health care that is suitable for a particular person, condition, occasion, or place as determined by the Administrator or the Administrator's designee after consultation with the Medical Director.
- (5) "Bill" means a request by a provider submitted to an employer for payment for health care services provided in connection with a compensable injury, illness or occupational disease.
- (6) "BR" (By Report) means that the procedure is not assigned a maximum fee and requires a written description. The description shall be included on the bill or attached to the bill and shall include the following information, as appropriate:
 - (a) Copies of operative reports;
 - (b) Consultation reports;
 - (c) Progress notes;
 - (d) Office notes or other applicable documentation;
 - (e) Description of equipment or supply (when that is the bill).
- (7) "Bureau" means the Tennessee Bureau of Workers' Compensation as defined in T.C.A. § 50-6-102, an autonomous unit attached to the Tennessee Department of Labor and Workforce Development for administrative matters only pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-3-1409.
- (8) "Case" means a compensable injury, illness or occupational disease identified by the worker's name and date of injury, illness or occupational disease.
- (9) "CMS" means the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. The rules promulgated by CMS used in these chapters are referred to as "Medicare".
- (10) "Complete procedure" means a procedure containing a series of steps which are not to be billed separately, as defined by Medicare.
- (11) "Consultant service" means; in regard to the care of a patient with a covered injury and illness; an examination, evaluation, and opinion rendered by a health care specialist when requested by the

authorized treating practitioner or by the employee; and which includes a history, examination, evaluation of treatment, and a written report. If the consulting practitioner assumes responsibility for the continuing care of the patient, subsequent service(s) cease(s) to be a consultant service.

- (12) "CPT®" means the edition of the American Medical Association's *Current Procedural Terminology* in effect on the date of service.
- (13) "Critical care" has the same meaning as defined by Medicare.
- (14) "Day" means a calendar day, unless otherwise designated in these Rules.
- (15) "Diagnostic procedure" means a service which aids in determining the nature and/or cause of an occupational disease, illness or injury.
- (16) "Diagnostic Code" means the properly constructed numeric code from the International Classification of Diseases, version ICD-9-CM for dates of service before October 1, 2015. For dates of service on or after October 1, 2015, it means the properly constructed ICD-10-CM alpha-numeric code.
- (17) "Dispute" means a disagreement between an employer and a health care provider on interpretation, payment under, or application of these Rules.
- (18) "MS-DRG" (Diagnosis Related Group) means one of the classifications of diagnoses in which patients demonstrate similar resource consumption and length of stay patterns as defined for Medicare.
- (19) "Durable Medical Equipment" or "DME" is equipment which:
 - (a) Can withstand repeated use;
 - (b) Is primarily and customarily used to serve a medical purpose;
 - (c) Generally, is not useful to a person in the absence of illness, injury or occupational disease; and
 - (d) Is appropriate for use in the home.
- (20) "Employer" shall have the same meaning as defined in T.C.A. § 50-6-102, but also includes an employer's insurer, third party administrator, self-insured employers, self-insured pools, and trusts, as well as the employer's legally authorized representative or legal counsel, and agents to accomplish billing and payment transactions, as applicable.
- (21) "Established patient" has the same meaning as in the version of the CPT® book and Medicare guidelines in effect on the date of service.
- (22) "Expendable medical supply" means a disposable article which is needed in quantity on a daily or monthly basis.
- (23) "Focused review" means the evaluation of a specific health care service or provider to establish patterns of use and dollar expenditures.
- (24) "Follow-up care" means the care which is related to the recovery from a specific procedure, and which is considered part of the procedure's maximum allowable payment, as listed in the rate tables under the Follow Up Days (FUD) column but does not include care for complications.
- (25) "Follow-up days (FUD)" means the days of care following a surgical procedure that are included in the procedure's maximum allowable payment, as listed in the rate tables but does not include care for complications.
- (26) "Follow-up visits" means office visits following a surgical procedure which are included in the

procedure's maximum allowable payment, as listed in the rate tables but does not include care for complications.

- (27) "Gap filled codes" are procedural codes not valued by Medicare but for which maximum reimbursement amounts are included in the fee schedule rate tables.
- (28) "Health care organization" means a group of practitioners or individuals joined together to provide health care services and includes, but is not limited to, a freestanding surgical outpatient facility, health maintenance organization, an industrial or other clinic, an occupational health care center, a home health agency, a visiting nurse association, a laboratory, a medical supply company, or a community mental health center.
- (29) "Health care review" means the review of a health care case or bill, or both, by an employer.
- (30) "Health Care Specialist" means a board-certified practitioner, board-eligible practitioner, or a practitioner otherwise considered an expert in a field of health care service by virtue of education, training, and experience generally accepted by practitioners in that particular field of health care service.
- (31) "Implantables" or "Surgical Implants" are items that are surgically inserted into the human body for the purpose of replacing, repairing or improving function or promoting healing that are designed and intended to remain in the human body for a minimum of 30 days or in accordance with Medicare.
- (32) "Inappropriate health care" means health care that is not suitable for a particular person, condition, occasion, or place as determined by the Administrator or the Administrator's designee after consultation with the Bureau's Medical Director.
- (33) "Incidental surgery" means a surgery performed through the same incision, on the same day, by the same doctor, and not related to the original or covered diagnosis that is in accord with the Medicare rules.
- (34) "Independent Medical Examination" means an examination and evaluation conducted by a practitioner who has not previously been involved in providing care to the examinee. There is no doctor/therapist-patient relationship. This does not include one conducted under the Bureau's Medical Impairment Rating Registry ("MIRR") Program.
- (35) "Independent procedure" means a procedure which may be carried out by itself, separate and apart from the total service that usually accompanies it according to CPT® guidelines.
- (36) "Injury" has the same meaning as defined in T.C.A. § 50-6-102.
- (37) "Inpatient services" mean services rendered to a person who is formally admitted to a hospital and whose condition is such that requires inpatient admission in accordance with industry standard guidelines.
- (38) "Institutional services" mean all non-physician services rendered within the institution by an agent of the institution.
- (39) "Maximum allowable payment or maximum allowable reimbursement (MAR)" means the maximum fee for a procedure as listed in the rate tables or otherwise established by these Rules or the provider's usual and customary bill as defined in these Rules, whichever is less, except as otherwise might be specified. In no event shall reimbursement be in excess of the Bureau's Medical Fee Schedule, unless otherwise authorized by the administrator.
- (40) "Maximum fee" means the maximum allowable payment for a procedure established by this rule, the Medical Fee Schedule and the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule.
- (41) "Medical admission" means any hospital admission where the primary services rendered are not surgical or in an acute care hospital where the admission is to special unit such as inpatient psychiatric or rehab beds, or in a separately licensed psychiatric or rehabilitation hospital.

- (42) "Medical Director" means the Bureau's Medical Director appointed by the Administrator pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-126.
- (43) "Medical only case" means a case which does not involve lost work time.
- (44) "Medical supply" means either a piece of durable medical equipment or an expendable medical supply.
- (45) "Medicare Conversion Factor" is the amount in dollars that Medicare multiplies by the relative values units (RVUs) assigned to the procedure code to determine the fee. The RVUs are first multiplied by the Geographic Practice Cost Indices ("GPCI") for Tennessee. Conversion factors are modified on a regular basis. When referenced in the fee schedule, or rate tables, the Medicare conversion factor used in the applicable rate table for the date of service shall be used.
- (46) "Modifier code" means a 2-digit number or alphabetical designation used in conjunction with the procedure code to describe circumstances which arise in the treatment of an injured or ill employee.
- (47) "New patient" designation for billing purposes means a patient who is new to the provider according to the definitions used by Medicare on the date of service.
- (48) "Operative report" means the practitioner's written description of the surgery and includes all of the following:
 - (a) A preoperative diagnosis;
 - (b) A postoperative diagnosis;
 - (c) A step-by-step description of the surgery;
 - (d) An identification of problems which occurred during surgery;
 - (e) The condition of the patient, when leaving the operating room, the practitioner's office, or the health care organization.
- (49) "Ophthalmologist" shall be defined according to T.C.A. § 71-4-102(3).
- (50) "Optician" shall mean a licensed dispensing optician as set forth in T.C.A. § 63-14-103.
- (51) "Optometrist" means an individual licensed to practice optometry.
- (52) "Optometry" shall be defined according to T.C.A. § 63-8-102(12).
- (53) "Orthotic equipment" means an orthopedic apparatus designed to support, align, prevent, correct deformities, or improve the function of a movable body part.
- (54) "Orthotist" means a person skilled in the construction and application of orthotic equipment.
- (55) "Outpatient service" means a service provided by the following, but not limited to, types of facilities: physicians' offices and clinics, hospital emergency rooms, hospital outpatient facilities, community mental health centers, outpatient psychiatric hospitals, outpatient psychiatric units, and freestanding surgical outpatient facilities also known as ambulatory surgical centers.
- (56) "Package" means a surgical procedure that includes but is not limited to all of the following components:
 - (a) The operation itself;
 - (b) Local infiltration;

- (c) Topical anesthesia when used;
 - (d) The normal or global follow-up period and/or visits.
- (57) "Pattern of practice" means repeated, similar violations over a three-year period of the Tennessee Medical Fee Schedule Rules.
- (58) "Pharmacy" means the place where the science, art, and practice of preparing, preserving, compounding, dispensing, and giving appropriate instruction in the use of drugs is practiced and governed by the Board of Pharmacy.
- (59) "Practitioner" means a person licensed, registered, or certified as an audiologist, chiropractic physician, doctor of dental surgery, doctor of medicine, doctor of osteopathy, doctor of podiatry, doctor of optometry, nurse, nurse anesthetist, nurse practitioner, occupational therapist, orthotist, pharmacist, physical therapist, physician assistant, prosthetist, psychologist, physical therapy assistant, occupational therapy assistant or other person licensed, registered, or certified as a health care professional, or their agents used to accomplish medical records, billing and payment transactions.
- (60) "Preauthorization" for workers' compensation claims means that the employer prospectively or concurrently authorizes the payment of medical benefits. Preauthorization for workers' compensation claims does not mean that the employer accepts the claim or has made a final determination on the compensability of the claim. Preauthorization for workers' compensation claims does not include utilization review.
- (61) "Primary procedure" means the therapeutic procedure most closely related to the principal diagnosis.
- (62) "Procedure" means a unit of health service.
- (63) "Procedure code" means an alpha/numeric or numeric sequence used to identify a service performed and billed by a qualified provider.
- (64) "Properly submitted and complete bill" means a request for a provider for payment of health care services submitted to the employer on the appropriate forms which are completed pursuant to this rule or the rules appropriate to electronic billing. To be properly submitted and complete, the bill shall:
- (a) Identify:
 - 1. The injured employee who received the service;
 - 2. The employer and the responsible paying agent with information sufficient to contact the responsible party in case of a dispute or questions. This information shall be provided by the payer if the bill is adjusted, contested, or rejected and shall include a clear explanation of the reasons;
 - 3. The health care provider with an IRS, NPI or other appropriate identifier;
 - 4. The medical service product;
 - 5. Other information required by the form;
 - (b) Include a valid MS-DRG, revenue code, CPT® code, or HCPCS code as applicable;
 - (c) Include an ICD-10-CM code where necessary;
 - (d) Have attached, in legible text, all supporting documentation required for the particular bill format, including, but not limited to, medical reports and records, evaluation reports, narrative reports, assessment reports, progress reports/notes, clinical notes, hospital records and

diagnostic test results that may be expressly required by law or can reasonably be expected by the payer or its agent under the laws of Tennessee.

- (65) "Prosthesis" means an artificial substitute for a missing body part.
- (66) "Prosthetist" means a person skilled in the construction and application of prosthesis.
- (67) "Provider" means a facility, health care organization, or a practitioner, or their agents to accomplish medical records, correspondences, billing and payment transactions.
- (68) "Rate Table or Rate Tables" means the established fees for services provided by the Bureau and updated in accordance with these Rules.
- (69) "Reject" means that an employer denies partial or total payment to a provider or denies a provider's request for reconsideration. Notification of any full or partial rejection shall be made within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the bill by the employer.
- (70) "RVU" means relative value unit that is assigned under the Medicare Resource Based Relative Value System (RBRVS) used in the rate tables in effect on the date of service.
- (71) "Secondary procedure" means a surgical procedure which is performed to ameliorate conditions that are found to exist during the performance of a primary surgery, and which is considered an independent procedure that may not be performed as a part of the primary surgery or for the existing condition, as defined by Medicare.
- (72) "Stop-Loss Payment" or "SLP" means an independent method of payment for an inpatient hospital stay.
- (73) "Stop-Loss Reimbursement Factor" or "SLRF" means a factor established by the Administrator to be used as a multiplier to establish a reimbursement amount when total hospital bills have exceeded specific stop-loss dollar thresholds.
- (74) "Stop-Loss Threshold" or "SLT" means a dollar threshold of bills established by the Administrator, beyond which reimbursement is calculated by multiplying the applicable SLRF times the total dollars billed following that particular dollar threshold.
- (75) "Surgical admission" means any hospital admission for which the patient has a surgical MS-DRG as defined by CMS.
- (76) "Tennessee Specific Conversion Percentage" is a multiplier applied to an applicable service for an eligible medical specialty category. The appropriate medical specialty categories are listed in Chapter 0800-02-18.
- (77) "Timely filing of bills for medical services" means the period of time within which a request for payment from a provider shall be billed consistent with Medicare guideline time limits.
- (78) "Timely payment" means the period of time that the employer has to remit payment to the provider.
- (79) "Transfer between facilities" means to move or remove a patient from one facility to another for a purpose related to obtaining or continuing medical care. The transfer may or may not involve a change in the admittance status of the patient, i.e., patient transported from one facility to another to obtain specific care, diagnostic testing, or other medical services not available in the facility in which the patient has been admitted. The transfer between facilities shall include costs related to transportation of patient to obtain medical care.
- (80) "Usual and customary" (U&C) means eighty percent (80%) of a specific provider's billed charges.
- (81) "CMS-1500, CMS-1450, UB-04", their electronic equivalents or their successors means the most recent industry standard health insurance claim forms maintained for use by medical care providers and institutions, including the ADA form for dentists and the NCPDP WC/PC UCF for pharmacies.

- (82) "Utilization Review" means evaluation of the necessity, appropriateness, efficiency and quality of medical services, including the prescribing of one (1) or more Schedule II, III or IV controlled substances for pain management for a period of time exceeding ninety (90) days from the initial prescription of such controlled substances, provided to an injured or disabled employee based upon medically accepted standards and an objective evaluation of the medical care services provided; provided, that "utilization review" does not include the establishment of approved payment levels, a review of medical charges or fees, or an initial evaluation of an injured or disabled employee by a physician specializing in pain management. "Utilization review," also known as "Utilization management," does not include the evaluation or determination of causation or the compensability of a claim. For workers' compensation claims, "utilization review" is not a component of preauthorization. The employer shall be responsible for all costs associated with utilization review and shall in no event obligate the employee, health care provider or Bureau to pay for such services.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.05 Procedure Codes, Adoption of the CMS Medicare Procedures, Guidelines, And Amounts, shall be amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read;

0800-02-17-.05 Procedure Codes, Adoption of the CMS Medicare Procedures, Guidelines, And Amounts, Rate Tables.

- (1) Services and medical supplies shall be coded with valid procedure or supply codes of the Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System ("HCPCS"). Level I HCPCS procedure codes (CPT® codes) used in these rules were developed and copyrighted by the American Medical Association ("AMA"). Level II HCPCS procedure codes used in these rules were developed by CMS.
- (2) The editions adopted by CMS of the American Medical Association's Current Procedural Terminology ("CPT®"), the Medicare MS-DRG table, the Medicare RBRVS in effect on the date of service or date of discharge, and the National Correct Coding Initiative edits ("NCCI") are incorporated in these Rules and shall be used in conjunction with these Rules. NCCI also includes Medically Unlikely Edits ("MUE") that identify a maximum number of units allowable under most circumstances for a single HCPCS or CPT® code billed on a date of service for a single patient. For more information, see <https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Coding/NationalCorrectCodInitEd/index> and <https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Coding/NationalCorrectCodInitEd/MUE>
- (3) Unless otherwise explicitly stated in these Rules, the Medicare procedures and guidelines in effect on the date of service are hereby adopted and incorporated as part of these Rules as if fully set out herein and are effective upon adoption and implementation by Medicare.
- (4) Whenever there is no specific fee or methodology for reimbursement set forth in these Rules and rate tables, then the maximum amount of reimbursement shall be at 100% of the Medicare allowable amount. The Medicare guidelines and procedures in effect on the date of service shall be followed in arriving at the correct amount, subject to the requirements of Rule 0800-02-18-.02(4). The Medical Fee Schedule conversion factor and TN specific conversion percentages may be, upon review by the Administrator, adjusted periodically. If there is no Medicare allowable amount, the service shall be reimbursed at the usual and customary amount as defined in Rule 0800-02-17-.03 of this Chapter.
- (5) Telehealth: the definitions, licensing and processes for the purpose of these rules shall be the same as adopted by the Tennessee Department of Health and Medicare. The maximum reimbursement for services provided via telehealth is the lesser of billed charges or the amounts listed in this fee schedule. Services that are eligible to be provided via telehealth are identified with a star (★) in the rate tables.
- (6) The fee schedule, including rate tables, will be available free of charge in a standard downloadable

format (pdf/excel) from a link provided on the bureau's website.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.06 Procedures for Which Codes or Values Are Not Listed, is amended by deleting paragraphs (1) and (2) in their entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraphs read:

- (1) If a procedure is performed which is not listed in the rate tables, the health care provider shall use an appropriate CPT® procedure code or revenue code, as applicable. The provider shall submit an explanation, such as copies of operative reports, consultation reports, progress notes, office notes or other applicable documentation, or description of equipment or supply (when that is the bill).
- (2) The CPT® book contains procedure codes for unlisted procedures. These codes should only be used when there is no procedure code which accurately describes the service rendered. A special report is required. These services are reimbursed BR (By Report, see 0800-02-17-.03).

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.07 Modifier Codes, is amended by deleting it in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

- (1) Modifiers shall be added to the procedure code when the service or procedure has been altered from the basic procedure described by the descriptor.
- (2) Tennessee state-specific modifiers listed in 0800-02-18 may be added to the procedure code when criteria set forth in chapter 18 have been met.
- (3) The use of modifiers does not imply or guarantee that a provider will receive reimbursement as billed. Reimbursement for modified services or procedures shall be based on documentation of reasonableness and necessity and shall be determined on a case-by-case basis. For more information on modifiers, see Chapter 0800-02-18.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.08 Total Procedures Billed Separately, is amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

- (1) Certain diagnostic procedures (neurological testing, radiology and pathology procedures, etc.) may be performed by two separate entities that also bill separately for the professional and technical components. When this occurs, the total reimbursement shall not exceed the maximum medical fee schedule allowable for the procedure code listed.
 - (a) When billing for the professional component only, modifier 26 (Professional Component) shall be added to the appropriate procedure code.
 - (b) When billing for the technical component only, modifier TC (Technical Component) is to be added to the appropriate procedure code.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-128, 50-6-204, and 50-6-205.

Rule 0800-02-17-.09 Independent Medical Examination to Evaluate Medical Aspects of a Case, shall be amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

- (1) An Independent Medical Examination ("IME"), performed to evaluate the medical aspects of a case (other than one conducted under the Bureau's MIRR Program), shall be billed using state-specific codes and shall include the practitioner's time only. Time spent shall include the office visit (face-to-

face time with the patient), time spent reviewing records, reports and studies, and time spent preparing reports. State-specific code Z0610 shall be used to bill the first hour (shall not exceed \$500). State-specific code Z0611 shall be used to bill each additional half hour (shall not exceed \$250 per half hour). State-specific code Z0310-Impairment Rating (Form Completion) shall not be billed for IME services or in combination with codes Z0610 and Z0611, see 0800-02-17-.25.

- (2) Prepayment for an Independent Medical Examination shall not exceed \$500.
- (3) Any laboratory procedure, x-ray procedure, and any other test which is needed to establish the worker's ability to return to work shall be identified by the appropriate procedure code established by this Rule and reimbursed accordingly.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.10 Payment, shall be amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

- (1) Unless a waiver is obtained from the Administrator, reimbursement for all health care services and supplies shall be the lesser of (a) the provider's usual billed charge, (b) the fees listed in the rate tables in the Fee Schedule, after applying any applicable modifiers, methodologies, or exceptions set forth in these Rules; or 100% of the Medicare rate if the code is not listed in the rate tables, or the methodology is not set forth in these Rules or (c) the agreed contracted or published rate between the provider and the MCO/PPO pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-215. A licensed provider or institution shall receive no more than the maximum allowable payment, in accordance with these Rules, for appropriate health care services rendered to a person who is entitled to health care services under the Law. Any provider reimbursed or employer paying an amount which is in excess of these Rules shall have a period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from the time of receipt/payment of such excessive payment in which to refund/recover the overpayment amount. Overpayments refunded/recovered within this time period shall not constitute a violation under these Rules.
- (2) Whenever a guideline or procedure is not set forth in these Rules, the Medicare guidelines and procedures in effect on the date of service shall be followed.
- (3) When extraordinary services resulting from severe head injuries, major burns, severe neurological injuries or any injury requiring an extended period of intensive care are required, a greater fee may be allowed up to 150% of the professional service fees normally allowed under these Rules. Such cases shall be billed with modifier 22 (for CPT® coded procedures) and shall contain a detailed written description of the extraordinary service rendered and the need therefore. This provision does not apply to Inpatient Hospital Care facility fees which are specifically addressed in the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, Chapter 0800-02-19.
- (4) Billing for provider services shall be submitted on industry standard billing forms; UB-04, CMS-1450, CMS-1500, the ADA form for dental providers, and the NCPDP WC/PC UCF for pharmacies, their electronic equivalent, or their official replacement forms. Electronic billing submissions shall be in accord with the Bureau's rules for electronic billing.
- (5) An employer's payment shall reflect any adjustments in the bill, subject to the following:
 - (a) Whenever the employer's reimbursement differs from the amount billed by the provider, the employer/adjuster/bill review organization shall provide an explanation of medical benefits with current and complete contact information to the health care provider. Industry standard remark codes and a clear reason for the adjustment shall be provided.
 - (b) A provider shall not attempt to collect from the injured employee or from the employer any amounts properly reduced by the employer.
 - (c) All such communications shall comply with all applicable Medicare and HIPAA requirements.

- (d) Remittances for electronically submitted bills shall be in accordance with the Bureau's rules for electronic billing.
- (6) All providers and carriers shall use electronic billing and EDI, if they have the capability to do so. All such communications shall comply with all applicable Medicare and HIPPA requirements.
- (7) An employer shall date stamp medical bills and reports not submitted electronically upon receipt. Payment for a properly submitted and complete bill not disputed within fifteen (15) business days (or uncontested portions of the bill) shall be made to the provider within thirty (30) calendar days.
- (8) The employer shall notify the provider within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the bill that it was not properly submitted and specify the reason(s).
- (9) When an employer disputes a bill submitted on paper or portion thereof, the employer shall pay the undisputed portion of the paper bill within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of a properly submitted paper bill. For the time frames applicable to electronic billing see Rule 0800-02-26-.06.
- (10) A provider shall request the employer to reconsider a disputed bill (or portion of a bill) within thirty (30) days of receiving notification from the employer that the bill was not properly submitted. The employer shall complete the review of the reconsideration and notify the provider of the determination within thirty (30) days of receiving the request for reconsideration.
- (11) Any provider not receiving timely payment of the undisputed portion of the provider's bill may institute a collection action against the employer in a state court having proper jurisdiction over such matters to obtain payment of the bill.
- (12) Billings not submitted on the proper form, as prescribed in these Rules, the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, and the Medical Fee Schedule Rules, may be returned to the provider for correction and resubmission. If an employer returns such billings, it shall do so within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the bill. The number of days between the date the employer returns the billing to the provider and the date the employer receives the corrected billing, shall not apply toward the thirty (30) calendar days within which the employer is required to make payment. The rules for electronic billing shall apply to the types of forms where applicable.
- (13) Payments to providers for initial examinations and treatment authorized by the carrier or employer shall be paid by that employer and shall not later be subject to reimbursement by the employee, even if the injury or condition for which the employee was sent to the provider is later determined non-compensable under the Law.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.13 Penalties for Violations of Fee Schedule Rules, is amended by deleting paragraph (1) in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (1) Except when a waiver has been granted by the Bureau, providers shall not accept and employers shall not pay any amount for health care services provided for the treatment of a covered injury or illness or for any other services encompassed within these Rules, Medical Fee Schedule Rules or the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, when that amount exceeds the maximum allowable payment established by these Rules. Any provider accepting and any employer paying an amount in excess of these Rules, Medical Fee Schedule Rules or the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, shall be in violation of these Rules and may, at the Administrator's discretion, be subject to civil penalties of not less than fifty dollars (\$50) nor more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per violation, which may be assessed severally against the provider accepting such fee and the employer paying the excessive fee, except as authorized pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-204, whenever a pattern or practice of such activity is found. Any provider reimbursed or employer paying an amount which is in excess of these Rules shall have a period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from the time of receipt/payment of such excessive payment in which to refund/recover the overpayment amount. Overpayments refunded/recovered within this time period shall not constitute a violation under these Rules. At the discretion of the Administrator, the Administrator's Designee,

or an agency member appointed by the Administrator, such provider may also be reported to the appropriate certifying board and may be subject to exclusion from participating in providing care under the Law. Any other violation of these Rules, Medical Fee Schedule Rules, or the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules shall subject the violator(s) to a civil penalty of not less than fifty dollars (\$50) nor more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per violation, at the discretion of the Administrator, Administrator's Designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-118, 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.14 Missed Appointment, is amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

A provider shall receive payment for a missed appointment if the appointment was arranged by the Bureau, the case manager, or employer and the case manager or employer fails to cancel the appointment not less than one (1) business day prior to the time of the appointment. The provider may bill the employer up to \$200 for the missed appointment using state-specific code Z0110 for a new patient visit. For an established patient, the provider may bill up to \$100 using state-specific code Z0111. The provider shall not receive payment for diagnostic testing or other services that would have been billed had the patient attended the appointment.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.15 Medical Report of Initial Visit and Progress Reports for Other than In-Patient Hospital Care, is amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

Medical Report of Initial Visit and Process Reports for Other than Inpatient Hospital Care.

- (1) Except for inpatient hospital care, a provider shall furnish the employer with a narrative medical report for the initial visit, all information pertinent to the compensable injury, illness, or occupational disease if requested within thirty (30) calendar days after examination or treatment of the injured employee.
- (2) If the provider continues to treat an injured or ill employee who is receiving temporary disability payments (total or partial) for the same compensable injury, illness or occupational disease, the provider shall provide an updated medical report to the employer, including an assessment of functional progress toward employment (restricted or unrestricted as appropriate), at intervals not to exceed sixty (60) calendar days.
- (3) The narrative medical report or the medical office visit note including an assessment of functional progress toward employment, of the initial visit and the progress or follow-up visit shall include (in addition to applicable identifying information) all of the following information:
 - (a) Subjective complaints and objective findings, including interpretation of diagnostic tests;
 - (b) For the narrative medical report of the initial visit, the history of the injury, and for the progress report(s), significant history since the last submission of a progress report and the diagnosis;
 - (c) As of the date of the narrative medical report or progress report, the projected treatment plan, including the type, frequency, and estimated length of treatment;
 - (d) Physical limitations and expected work restrictions and length of time of those limitations and/or restrictions if applicable.
- (4) When copies of narrative medical reports required by 0800-02-17-.15(1) and (2) are requested, the provider of the requested reports shall be reimbursed at the following rates using code Z0710: initial and subsequent reports - not to exceed \$10 for reports twenty (20) pages or less in length, and twenty-five (25) cents per page after the first twenty pages. No charge is allowed for routine office

notes as these are not considered narrative reports under this Rule. No fee shall be paid if a request for medical records does not produce any records.

- (5) A medical provider shall complete any medical report required by the Bureau without charge except completion of the C-30A (Final Medical Report) or the C-32 (Standard Form Medical Report) or their replacement forms.
- (6) After an initial opinion on causation has been issued by the physician, a request for a subsequent review based upon new information not available to the physician initially, may be charged by the physician and paid by the requesting party using state-specific code Z0210 (\$200 for one hour or less) and state-specific code Z0211 (\$100 for each additional hour). No additional reimbursement is due for the initial opinion on causation or a response to a request for clarification (that does not include any new information) of a previously issued opinion on causation.
- (7) Extra time spent in explanation or discussion with an injured worker or the case manager (that is separate from the discussion with the injured worker) may be charged on the same day as an office visit charge provided the extra time is equal to or greater than fifteen (15) minutes. State-specific code Z0410 shall be used for thirty (30) minutes or less (\$40 for 15-30 minutes). State-specific code Z0411 shall be used for greater than thirty (30) minutes (\$80 for 31 minutes or greater). The physician may charge for consultation with a case manager using the appropriate consultation or team conference CPT® code, when not on the same day as an office visit.
- (8) Extra time spent assessing, counseling or providing behavioral intervention to a Workers' Compensation patient for substance and/or alcohol use, or for substance and/or alcohol use disorder may be charged on the same day as an office visit charge using state-specific code Z0510 up to a maximum of eighty dollars (\$80) in addition to a standard E/M code. An assessment by structured screening shall be documented. The code may only be charged if the patient is on a long term (over 90 days) Schedule II medication or long term (over 90 days) combination of one or more Schedule II, III, and/or IV medications.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.17 Deposition/Witness Appearances, is amended by deleting paragraph (2) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (2) CPT® code 99075 shall be used to bill for a deposition.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.19 Preauthorization, is amended by deleting paragraph (2) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (2) If a provider makes a written request by fax or e-mail (and receives acknowledgement of receipt of the request) for authorization for a treatment at least twenty-one (21) business days in advance of the anticipated date that treatment is to be delivered and has not been notified of a denial or modification in writing or confirmed telephone call or confirmed fax at least seven (7) business days in advance of the date of the proposed treatment, it is presumed to be medically necessary, a covered service, and to be paid for by the employer.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-118, 50-6-125, 50-6-128, 50-6-204, and 50-6-205.

Rule 0800-02-17-.21 Process for Resolving Disputes Between Employers and Providers Regarding Bills, is amended by deleting the prior rule in its entirety and substituting the following language, so that as amended the rule shall read:

Disputes

- (1) Unresolved disputes between an employer and provider concerning bills due to conflicting interpretation of these Rules and/or the Medical Fee Schedule Rules and/or the Inpatient Hospital Fee Schedule Rules may be submitted to the Medical Payment Committee (the Committee) on or after July 1, 2014, in accordance with the provisions in T.C.A. § 50-6-125. A request for Committee Review may be submitted on the form posted by the Bureau within one (1) year of the date of service to: Medical Director of the Bureau of Workers' Compensation, Tennessee Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Suite 1-B, 220 French Landing Drive, Nashville, Tennessee 37243, or any subsequent address as prescribed by the Bureau.
- (2) Valid requests for Committee Review shall be accompanied by the form prescribed by the Bureau, shall be legible and complete, and shall contain copies of the following:
 - (a) Copies of the original and resubmitted bills in dispute which include dates of service, procedure codes, bills for services rendered and any payment received, and an explanation of unusual services or circumstances;
 - (b) Copies of all explanations of benefit (EOB's);
 - (c) Supporting documentation and correspondence, if any;
 - (d) Specific information regarding the contacts made with the employer;
 - (e) A verified or declared written medical report signed by the provider and all pertinent medical records; and
 - (f) A redacted copy of the above information removing all patient specific identifying information.
- (3) The party requesting Committee Review shall send a copy of the request and all documentation accompanying the request to the opposing party at the same time it is submitted to the Medical Director.
- (4) If the request for review does not contain proper documentation, then the Committee will decline to review the dispute. Likewise, if the timeframe in this Rule is not met, then the Committee will decline to review the dispute, but such failure shall not provide an independent basis for denying payment or recovery of payment.
- (5) Resubmission of a request will be entertained by the Bureau and the Medical Payment Committee for 90 calendar days from the date the Committee declined to hear the original dispute but only if pertinent or new information is forwarded with the resubmission.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.22 Committee Review of Fee Schedule Disputes/Hearings, is amended by deleting paragraph (1) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (1) Medical Payment Committee (the Committee) Review Procedure:
 - (a) When a valid request for Committee Review is received by the Bureau's Medical Director, the parties will be notified at least seven (7) business days in advance when the Committee will consider the dispute. The Committee may consider the dispute at any meeting during which it has a quorum of the voting members. Members may participate by telephone or by video conferencing or by properly executed proxy. Members that participate by telephone or video conferencing or properly executed proxy shall be counted as present for purposes of establishing a quorum.
 - (b) The parties will have the opportunity to submit documentary evidence and present arguments to the Committee prior to and during the Committee meeting in which the dispute will be heard. Written submissions to the committee shall be received by the Bureau at least one week in advance of the meeting. A redacted copy of all written material shall be included with

any submission.

- (c) The Committee shall consider the dispute and issue its decision on the merits as to the proper resolution of the dispute, based upon a simple majority vote of the members present for the purpose of a quorum. If the dispute cannot be decided in one meeting, then the Committee may continue it to the next meeting.
- (d) If the parties to the dispute do not follow the decision of the Committee, then either party may proceed in any court of law with proper jurisdiction to decide the dispute.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.24 Provider and Facility Fees for Copies of Medical Records, is amended by deleting paragraph (1) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (1) Health care providers and facilities are entitled to recover an amount in accordance with Tenn. Code Ann. § 50-6-204 to cover the cost of copying documents requested by the employer, employee, attorneys, etc. State-specific code Z0710 shall be used when billing for copies. Documentation which is submitted by the provider and/or facility, but was not specifically requested by the employer, shall not be allowed a copy charge. The cost set forth in this subsection shall also apply to paper records transmitted on a disc or by other electronic means based upon the number of pages reproduced on the disc or other media.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.24 Provider and Facility Fees for Copies of Medical Records, is amended by deleting paragraph (3) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (3) Health care providers and facilities shall be reimbursed up to the usual and customary amount, as defined in these Rules at 0800-02-.03, for copying X-rays, microfilm or other non-paper records. State-specific code Z0710 shall be used when billing for copies.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.25 Impairment Ratings-Evaluations and in Medical Records, is amended by deleting paragraph (2) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (2) The authorized treating physician is required and responsible for determining the employee's maximum medical improvement (MMI) date and providing the employee's impairment rating for the injury the physician is treating. In some circumstances, a work-related accident may lead to multiple injuries that require multiple authorized treating physicians. In such cases, the physician that is treating a distinct injury shall determine that the employee has reached maximum medical improvement as to that injury only and is required and responsible for providing an impairment rating for that injury only. An authorized treating physician shall not be required or responsible for providing an impairment rating for an injury that the physician is not treating. The authorized treating physician shall only be required to provide an impairment rating when the physician believes in good faith that the employee retains a permanent impairment upon reaching maximum medical improvement. If, after completion of the rating, it is determined that the employee has an impairment rating of zero, then the provisions of Rule 0800-02-17-.25(6) shall still apply. If the treating physician does not have a good faith belief that the employee retains a permanent impairment upon reaching maximum medical improvement, then the authorized treating physician shall still be required to complete an impairment rating on the Bureau's form but shall not charge a fee for the impairment rating.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Rule 0800-02-17-.25 Impairment Ratings-Evaluations and in Medical Records, is amended by deleting paragraph (6) and substituting the following language, so that as amended the paragraph shall read:

- (6) The authorized treating physician is required and responsible for providing the impairment rating, fully completing the report on a form prescribed by the Administrator, and submitting the report to the employer. Notwithstanding Rule 0800-02-17-.15, the authorized treating physician shall receive payment of no more than \$250 for these services to be paid by the employer. State-specific code Z0310 (up to \$250) shall be used for charges related to the completion of the prescribed form. The payment shall only be made to the authorized treating physician if the authorized treating physician documents the consultation with the applicable AMA Guides™. The analysis shall include documentation of the section, page, or table as applicable, as well as a description of the reasoning and methodology based upon the medical records. The fee is payable even if the analysis results in a Zero impairment rating. The physician may bill for an office visit, in addition to Z0310, using the appropriate CPT code for services provided on the same day.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

* If a roll-call vote was necessary, the vote by the Agency on these rulemaking hearing rules was as follows:

Board Member	Aye	No	Abstain	Absent	Signature (if required)

I certify that this is an accurate and complete copy of rulemaking hearing rules, lawfully promulgated and adopted by the Bureau of Workers' Compensation on 06/20/2023, and is in compliance with the provisions of T.C.A. § 4-5-222.

I further certify the following:

Notice of Rulemaking Hearing filed with the Department of State on: 09/12/2022

Rulemaking Hearing(s) Conducted on: (add more dates). 11/08/2022

Date: 06/20/2023



Signature: _____

Name of Officer: Troy Haley

Title of Officer: Administrator

Agency/Board/Commission: Bureau of Workers' Compensation

Rule Chapter Number(s): 0800-02-17

All rulemaking hearing rules provided for herein have been examined by the Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee and are approved as to legality pursuant to the provisions of the Administrative Procedures Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 4, Chapter 5.


Jonathan Skrimetti
Attorney General and Reporter

6-26-2023

Date

Department of State Use Only

Filed with the Department of State on: 6/27/2023

RECEIVED

Effective on: 9/25/2023

Jun 27 2023, 2:12 pm

Secretary of State
Division of Publications



Tre Hargett
Secretary of State

Public Hearing Comments

Comment (Tennessee Ambulatory Surgery Center Association):

1) We want to be cautious in the Bureau's summary of proposed changes in which it suggests that there will be no cost to receive a copy of the new rate tables. In our experience, the Workers' Compensation fee schedules of other states provided by Fair Health are available only after paying a fee.

Suggestion: An addition to the proposed rules that clarifies that the fee schedule is available free of charge and specific location where providers can easily download it in a standard format such as Microsoft Excel.

Response: The bureau agrees with the comment and clarification has been made in rule 0800-02-17-.05(6): "The fee schedule, including rate tables, will be available free of charge in a standard downloadable format (pdf/excel) from a link provided on the bureau's website."

2) Concern 0800-02-17 Rules for Medical Payments (Rule 0800-02-17-.03(31) Definition of "Implantables" or "Surgical Implants"): The included definition for surgical implants in the definition list is overly broad and we are concerned about how it might lead to differing interpretations that would end in disputes in front of the Medical Payment Committee.

Suggestion: "Implantables" or "Surgical Implants" are items that are surgically inserted into the human body for the purpose of replacing, repairing or improving function and or promoting healing that are designed and intended to remain in the body."

Response: The bureau agrees with the comment and the suggested change has been made.

Comment (Concentra):

Inflation-given the current economic headwinds with significant inflation, and the fact that medical inflation, as measured by the Medicare Economic Index (MEI) has risen dramatically (at least 16 basis points over the last 13 years), it is way past due for current TN specific conversion factors to be increased.

Suggestion: Chapter 17, 0800-02-17-.05 PROCEDURES CODES, ADOPTION OF THE CMS MEDICARE PROCEDURES, GUIDELINES AND AMOUNTS-we object to the deletion of the ability of the Administrator to adjust the TN specific conversion factors; effectively assuring that TN's fees will always be delegated to federal budget neutral fee development process without ANY control of the State to intervene in their own specific state rate setting.

Response: The Bureau agrees with the comment. The requested change has been made and the sentence regarding the Administrator's right to review and to adjust has been added back into the rule.

Comment (Enable Comp): In 0800-02-17-.10(10)

We wanted to bring to your attention a concern we are seeing regarding rule 0800-02-17-.10 (10). We are seeing a trend by a payer with multiple denials based on this rule. The payer is citing the 30-day appeal time frame is for all appeals and not solely addressing whether the bill was submitted properly. This differs from how we are interpreting the guideline as we believe it specifically addresses bills that do not meet the definition of "properly submitted and complete bill". In our research of the claims in question, they were all properly submitted with complete documentation to support services provided.

There are several concerns regarding this rule being applicable to every appeal type where the ability to appeal may be delayed, such as:

Appeals for Implants:

Implant invoices aren't always readily available when the bill is initially submitted. Many providers order in bulk and do not have easy access to the invoice documents, they must request a copy. The provider will typically submit the bill with the itemized statement and all other supporting documents. They will then provide the implant invoices as soon as they become available. In cases like this, most payers will reimburse the per diem rate and stop-loss first, then pay the implants later once the invoices are available and have been submitted.

Appeals for erroneous denials/underpayments:

Many payers utilize auto adjudication (artificial intelligence) where the bill passes through their bill review reimbursement software without human intervention. Their system recommends payment and/or denial of the billed charges based on specific rule criteria programmed into their system. Many times, the explanation for the denial/underpayment listed on the EOB/EOR is vague. Examples of these types of denials include:

Differences of interpretation of rules

This includes rules such as Tennessee Workers' Compensation fee schedule rules, Medicare rules, NCCI guidelines, etc.

Duplicate denials

Denials for services provided by multiple different providers on the same day. (Example: E&M or hospital visit charges billed on the same date of service by two physicians with different specialties)

Appeals denied as duplicates of a previously submitted bill. (Example: Payer system automatically denies appeals as duplicates. Their system has difficulty recognizing the second submitted bill as an appeal.)

Not related

Payers auto deny codes they have determined are not typically related to common workplace injuries. There may be a valid reason and relation to the work injury but because a human hasn't reviewed the bill it will auto deny.

Missing documentation

Sometimes the payers will deny stating there is missing documentation despite the bill being properly submitted with complete corresponding documentation attached

The payer system can only accept a specific number of pages which for bills with a large volume of documentation can be problematic.

Another reason for missing documentation, the payer physically scans the bill, and their scanner did not capture every page.

Bundling Denials

Payers have rules programmed into their system regarding bundling and will auto deny any charge they believe isn't separately payable. However, there are times when the services provided are separately identifiable and do receive a separate reimbursement rate.

Appeal process for these types of erroneous denials can be time consuming and lengthy. It includes but not limited to:

Multiple phone calls to the payer to determine the true nature and details of the denial

Clinical and coding expert review of denials/underpayments

Gathering appeal documentation from reference resources such as: Fee Schedule, Medicare, NCCI, NUBC, CPT, ICD, etc. to formulate the appeal

(NOTE: There have been instances where we have contacted the payer(s) telephonically and they will recognize the denial as an error. They state they will put the bill back in line for review. When we call to check status, the bill was never placed back in line for reconsideration. An official hard copy of the appeal is submitted then the payer denies for timely filing.)

For entities and practitioners who provide services in good faith to injured workers, we are highly concerned applying this 30-day appeal rule to every type of appeal will negatively impact providers. Due to the complexities obtaining implant invoices and the convoluted process of appealing inaccurate denials/underpayments, a 30-day appeal process will be costly and limiting. The provided remedy to pursue legal collection action is not always a viable option nor should it be the solution for properly submitted bills denied due to payer software edit errors and/or errors in interpretation of the rules.

Response: The Bureau agrees with the comment and the last sentence of 0800-02-17-.10(10) has been deleted.

Regulatory Flexibility Addendum

Pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-401 through 4-5-404, prior to initiating the rule making process, all agencies shall conduct a review of whether a proposed rule or rule affects small business.

1. The type or types of small business and an identification and estimate of the number of small businesses subject to the proposed rule that would bear the cost of, or directly benefit from the proposed rule:
The amended rules should not affect small employers that fall under the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Laws, (employers with at least five employees, or for those in the construction industry at least one employee). There should be no additional costs associated with these rule changes.
2. The projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative costs required for compliance with the proposed rule, including the type of professional skills necessary for preparation of the report or record:
There is no additional record keeping requirement or administrative cost associated with these rule changes. Use of the rate table will reduce employer and provider calculations, a source of dispute.
3. A statement of the probable effect on impacted small businesses and consumers:
These rules should have no impact on consumers or small businesses.
4. A description of any less burdensome, less intrusive or less costly alternative methods of achieving the purpose and objectives of the proposed rule that may exist, and to what extent the alternative means might be less burdensome to small business:
There are no less burdensome methods to achieve the purposes and objectives of these rules. The rate table simplify payment methods for both employers and providers.
5. Comparison of the proposed rule with any federal or state counterparts: None.
6. Analysis of the effect of the possible exemption of small businesses from all or any part of the requirements contained in the proposed rule:
Exempting small businesses could negatively impact the small business owners' access to the services provided by the Bureau of Workers' Compensation and timely medical treatment for injured workers, which would be counter-productive.

Impact on Local Governments

Pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-220 and 4-5-228, "On any rule and regulation proposed to be promulgated, the proposing agency shall state in a simple declarative sentence, without additional comments on the merits or the policy of the rule or regulation, whether the rule or regulation may have a projected financial impact on local governments. The statement shall describe the financial impact in terms of increase in expenditures or decrease in revenues."

These proposed rules will have little, if any, impact on local governments.

Additional Information Required by Joint Government Operations Committee

All agencies, upon filing a rule, must also submit the following pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-5-226(i)(1).

- (A) A brief summary of the rule and a description of all relevant changes in previous regulations effectuated by such rule;

These rules are amended rules for medical payments for the workers' compensation medical fee schedule.

- (B) A citation to and brief description of any federal law or regulation or any state law or regulation mandating promulgation of such rule or establishing guidelines relevant thereto;

T.C.A. § 50-6-233: The bureau's administrator may promulgate rules and regulations implementing the workers' compensation law. Also, T.C.A §4-5-102 (12) requires certain policies to be promulgated as rules. Also, T.C.A § 50-6-204(i)(3) requires the Administrator to review the medical fee schedule on an annual basis.

- (C) Identification of persons, organizations, corporations or governmental entities most directly affected by this rule, and whether those persons, organizations, corporations or governmental entities urge adoption or rejection of this rule;

Workers' compensation insurance carriers and employers, including self-insured employers, along with injured workers, will be affected by the adoption or rejection of these rules.

- (D) Identification of any opinions of the attorney general and reporter or any judicial ruling that directly relates to the rule or the necessity to promulgate the rule;

None.

- (E) An estimate of the probable increase or decrease in state and local government revenues and expenditures, if any, resulting from the promulgation of this rule, and assumptions and reasoning upon which the estimate is based. An agency shall not state that the fiscal impact is minimal if the fiscal impact is more than two percent (2%) of the agency's annual budget or five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000), whichever is less;

The overall effect will have minimal fiscal impact upon state or local government.

- (F) Identification of the appropriate agency representative or representatives, possessing substantial knowledge and understanding of the rule;

Amanda Terry, Legal Services Director, Bureau of Workers' Compensation

- (G) Identification of the appropriate agency representative or representatives who will explain the rule at a scheduled meeting of the committees;

Amanda Terry, Legal Services Director, Bureau of Workers' Compensation

- (H) Office address, telephone number, and email address of the agency representative or representatives who will explain the rule at a scheduled meeting of the committees; and

220 French Landing Dr. 1-B, Nashville, TN 37243, 615-253-1847, amanda.terry@tn.gov

- (I) Any additional information relevant to the rule proposed for continuation that the committee requests.

None.

**RULES OF
THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
BUREAU OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION**

CHAPTER 0800-02-17 RULES FOR MEDICAL PAYMENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

0800-02-17-.01	Purpose and Scope	0800-02-17-.14	Missed Appointment
0800-02-17-.02	Reserved	0800-02-17-.15	Medical Report of Initial Visit and Progress Reports for Other than In- patient Hospital Care
0800-02-17-.03	Definitions		Additional Records
0800-02-17-.04	Reserved		Deposition/Witness Appearances
0800-02-17-.05	Procedure Codes, Adoption of the CMS Medicare Procedures, Guidelines[,] and Amounts[, Rate Tables]	0800-02-17-.16	Out-of-State Providers
0800-02-17-.06	Procedures for Which Codes or Values Are Not Listed	0800-02-17-.17	Preauthorization
0800-02-17-.07	Modifier Codes	0800-02-17-.18	Reserved
0800-02-17-.08	Total Procedures Billed Separately	0800-02-17-.19	Process for Resolving Disputes Between Employers and Providers
0800-02-17-.09	Independent Medical Examination to Evaluate Medical Aspects of a CasePayment	0800-02-17-.20	Regarding Bills
0800-02-17-.10		0800-02-17-.21	Committee Review of Fee Schedule Disputes/Hearings
0800-02-17-.11	Reimbursement for Employee-Paid Services	0800-02-17-.22	Reserved
0800-02-17-.12	Recovery of Payment	0800-02-17-.23	Provider and Facility Fees for Copies of Medical Records
0800-02-17-.13	Penalties for Violations of Fee ScheduleRules	0800-02-17-.24	Impairment Ratings-Evaluations and in Medical Records
		0800-02-17-.25	

0800-02-17-.01 PURPOSE AND SCOPE.

(1) Purpose:

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 50-6-204, this chapter, together with the Medical Fee Schedule Rules, Chapter 0800-02-18-.01 et seq., and the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, Chapter 0800-02-19-.01 et seq., (collectively hereinafter "Rules") are hereby adopted by the Administrator in order to establish a comprehensive medical fee schedule and a related system which includes, but is not limited to, procedures for review of bills, enforcement procedures and appeal hearings. The Administrator promulgates these Rules to establish the maximum allowable fees for health care services falling within the purview of the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law ("Law"). This chapter ~~must~~ [shall] be used in conjunction with the Medical Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-18) and the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-19). The Rules establish maximum allowable fees and procedures for all medical care and services provided to any employee claiming medical benefits under the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law. Employers and providers may negotiate and contract or pay lesser fees as are agreeable between them, but in no event shall reimbursement be in excess of the Rules, subject to the civil penalties prescribed in the Rules, as assessed by, and in the discretion of, the Administrator, the Administrator's designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator. These Rules are applicable only to those injured employees claiming benefits under the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law.

(2) Scope: These rules do the following:

- (a) Establish procedures by which the employer shall furnish, or cause to be furnished to an employee who sustains a personal injury, illness, or occupational disease, reasonable and necessary medical, surgical, hospital services and medicines, or other attendance or treatment recognized by the laws of the state as legal.
- (b) Establish schedules of maximum fees by a health facility or health care provider for such treatment or attendance, service, device, apparatus, or medicine.
- (c) Establish procedures by which a health care provider shall be paid the lesser of: (1) the

provider's usual bill, (2) the maximum fee established under these Rules, or (3) the MCO/PPO or any other negotiated and contracted or lower price, where applicable[, unless a waiver is granted by the administrator.] ~~Unless authorized by the administrator, in no event shall reimbursement be in excess of these Rules. Reimbursement in excess of these Rules may, at the Administrator's discretion, result in civil penalties of not less than fifty dollars (\$50) nor greater than five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) per violation each assessed severally against the provider accepting such fee and the employer paying the excessive fee, if a pattern or practice of such activity is found. At the Administrator's discretion, multiple violations by a provider may subject the provider to exclusion from further participating in providing medical care to injured workers under the Law.~~

- (d) Identify utilization of health care and health services which is above the usual range of utilization for such services, based on medically accepted standards.
- (e) Permit review by the Bureau of the records and medical bills of any health facility or health care provider to determine if they are in compliance with these Rules.
- (f) Provide for deposition and witness fees.
- (g) Establish maximum fees for medical reports.
- (h) Provide for uniformity of billing for provider services.
- (i) Establish the effective date for implementation of these Rules. Adopt by reference as part of these Rules the International Classification of Diseases, ICD-9-CM and ICD-10-CM, the American Medical Association's [Current Procedural Terminology (CPT®)] and Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS-Medicare) guidelines, Medical Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-18), the ~~in-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule (Chapter 0800-02-19) and any amendments to them.
- (j) Establish procedures for reporting of medical claims.
- (k) Establish procedures for pre-authorization for payments of non-emergency hospitalizations, transfers between facilities, and outpatient services.
- (l) Establish procedures for imposing and collecting civil penalties for violations of these Rules.
- (m) These rules shall apply where appropriate in conjunction with electronic submission of payments (electronic billing). See Rule 0800-02-26.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendments filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.02 RESERVED.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public

necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-.03 DEFINITIONS.

The following definitions are for the purposes of and are applicable to the Rules for Medical Payments (Chapter 0800-02-17), the Medical Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-18) and the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules (Chapter 0800-02-19):

- (1) "Law" means Tennessee's Workers' Compensation Law, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 50-6-101 et seq. as currently enacted by the Tennessee General Assembly, specifically including any future enactments by the Tennessee General Assembly involving amendments, deletions, additions, repeals, or any other modification, in any form of the Workers' Compensation Law.
- (2) "Adjust" means that an employer changes a health care provider's request for payment, including but not limited to:
 - (a) Applies the maximum fee allowable under these Rules;
 - (b) Applies an agreed upon discount to the provider's usual bill, in accordance with the requirement in T.C.A. § 50-6-215;
 - (c) Adjusts to a usual and customary amount when the maximum fee is ~~by-report~~ [By Report (BR)];
 - (d) Reduces or denies all or part of a properly submitted bill for payment as a result of bill review;
 - (e) Recodes a procedure.
- (3) "Administrator" means the ~~chief administrative officer~~ [Chief Administrative Officer] of the Bureau of Workers' Compensation or the Administrator's designee.
- (4) "Appropriate care" means health care that is suitable for a particular person, condition, occasion, or place as determined by the Administrator or the Administrator's designee after consultation with the Medical Director.
- (5) "Bill" means a request by a provider submitted to an employer for payment for health care services provided in connection with a compensable injury, illness or occupational disease.
- (6) "BR" (By Report) means that the procedure is not assigned a maximum fee and requires a written description. The description shall be included on the bill or attached to the bill and shall include the following information, as appropriate:
 - (a) Copies of operative reports;
 - (b) Consultation reports;
 - (c) Progress notes;
 - (d) Office notes or other applicable documentation;
 - (e) Description of equipment or supply (when that is the bill).
- (7) "Bureau" means the Tennessee Bureau of Workers' Compensation as defined in T.C.A. § 50-6-

102, an autonomous unit attached to the Tennessee Department of Labor and Workforce Development for administrative matters only pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-3-1409.

- (8) "Case" means a compensable injury, illness or occupational disease identified by the worker's name and date of injury, illness or occupational disease.
- (9) "CMS" means the ~~U.S.~~ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (~~formerly Health Care Financing Administration~~). The rules promulgated by CMS used in these chapters are referred to as "Medicare".
- (10) "Complete procedure" means a procedure containing a series of steps which are not to be billed separately, as defined by Medicare.
- (11) "Consultant service" means; in regard to the ~~healthcare~~ of [a patient with] a covered injury and illness; an examination, evaluation, and opinion rendered by a health care specialist when requested by the authorized treating practitioner or by the employee; and which includes a history, examination, evaluation of treatment, and a written report. If the consulting practitioner assumes responsibility for the continuing care of the patient, subsequent service(s) cease(s) to be a consultant service.
- (12) "CPT®" means the edition of the American Medical Association's *Current Procedural Terminology* in effect on the date of service.
- (13) "Critical care" has the same meaning as defined by Medicare.
- (14) "Day" means a calendar day, unless otherwise designated in these Rules.
- (15) "Diagnostic procedure" means a service which aids in determining the nature and/or cause of an occupational disease, illness or injury.
- (16) "Diagnostic Code" means the properly constructed numeric code from the International Classification of Diseases, version ICD-9-CM for dates of service before October 1, 2015. For dates of service on or after October 1, 2015, it means the properly constructed [ICD-10-CM] alpha-numeric code; ~~ICD-10-CM~~.
- (17) "Dispute" means a disagreement between an employer and a health care provider on interpretation, payment under, or application of these Rules.
- (18) "MS-DRG" (Diagnosis Related Group) means one of the classifications of diagnoses in which patients demonstrate similar resource consumption and length of stay patterns as defined for Medicare.
- (19) "Durable Medical Equipment" or "DME" is equipment which:
 - (a) Can withstand repeated use;
 - (b) Is primarily and customarily used to serve a medical purpose;
 - (c) Generally[,] is not useful to a person in the absence of illness, injury or occupational disease; and
 - (d) Is appropriate for use in the home.
- (20) "Employer" shall have the same meaning as defined in T.C.A. § 50-6-102, but also includes an employer's insurer, third party administrator, self-insured employers, self-insured pools[,] and trusts, as well as the employer's legally authorized representative or legal counsel, and agents to accomplish billing and payment transactions, as applicable.

- (21) "Established patient" has the same meaning as in the version of the CPT® book and Medicare guidelines in effect on the date of service.
- (22) "Expendable medical supply" means a disposable article which is needed in quantity on a daily or monthly basis.
- (23) "Focused review" means the evaluation of a specific health care service or provider to establish patterns of use and dollar expenditures.
- (24) "Follow-up care" means the care which is related to the recovery from a specific procedure, and which is considered part of the procedure's maximum allowable payment, as ~~defined by Medicare~~ [listed in the rate tables under the Follow Up Days (FUD) column] but does not include care for complications.
- (25) "Follow-up days [(FUD)]" means the days of care following a surgical procedure that are included in the procedure's maximum allowable payment, as ~~defined by Medicare~~ [listed in the rate tables] but does not include care for complications.
- (26) "Follow-up visits" means ~~the number of~~ office visits following a surgical procedure which ~~is~~ [are] included in the procedure's maximum allowable payment, as ~~defined by Medicare~~ [listed in the rate tables] but does not include care for complications.
- ~~[(27)]~~ "Gap filled codes" are procedural codes not valued by Medicare but for which maximum reimbursement amounts are included in the fee schedule rate table.]
- ~~(27)~~ [(28)] "Health care organization" means a group of practitioners or individuals joined together to provide health care services and includes, but is not limited to, a freestanding surgical outpatient facility, health maintenance organization, an industrial or other clinic, an occupational health care center, a home health agency, a visiting nurse association, a laboratory, a medical supply company, or a community mental health center.
- ~~(28)~~ [(29)] "Health care review" means the review of a health care case or bill, or both, by an employer.
- ~~(29)~~ [(30)] "Health Care Specialist" means a board-certified practitioner, board-eligible practitioner, or a practitioner otherwise considered an expert in a field of health care service by virtue of education, training, and experience generally accepted by practitioners in that particular field of health care service.
- [(31)] "Implantables" or "Surgical Implants" are items that are surgically inserted into the human body for the purpose of replacing, repairing or improving function or promoting healing that are designed and intended to remain in the human body for a minimum of 30 days or in accordance with Medicare.]
- ~~(30)~~ [(32)] "Inappropriate health care" means health care that is not suitable for a particular person, condition, occasion, or place as determined by the Administrator or the Administrator's designee after consultation with the Bureau's Medical Director.
- ~~(34)~~ [(33)] "Incidental surgery" means a surgery performed through the same incision, on the same day, by the same doctor, and not related to the original or covered diagnosis that is in accord with the Medicare rules.
- ~~(32)~~ [(34)] "Independent Medical Examination" means an examination and evaluation conducted by a practitioner who has not previously been involved in providing care to the examinee. There is no doctor/therapist-patient relationship. This does not include one conducted under the Bureau's Medical Impairment Rating Registry ("MIRR") Program.
- ~~(33)~~ [(35)] "Independent procedure" means a procedure which may be carried out by ~~its self~~ [itself], separate and apart from the total service that usually accompanies it according to CPT®

guidelines.

- ~~(34)~~ [(36)] "Injury" has the same meaning [as] defined in T.C.A. § 50-6-102.
- ~~(35)~~ [(37)] "Inpatient services" mean services rendered to a person who is formally admitted to a hospital and whose condition is such that requires ~~h~~[i]npatient admission in accordance with industry standard guidelines.
- ~~(36)~~ [(38)] "Institutional services" mean all non-physician services rendered within the institution by an agent of the institution.
- ~~(37)~~ [(39)] "Maximum allowable payment [or maximum allowable reimbursement (MAR)]" means the maximum fee for a procedure [as listed in the rate tables or otherwise] established by these Rules or the [provider's] usual and customary bill as defined in these Rules, whichever is less, except as otherwise might be specified. In no event shall reimbursement be in excess of the Bureau's Medical Fee Schedule, unless otherwise authorized by the administrator. ~~Fee collected in excess of the Bureau's Medical Fee Schedule and reported to the Bureau, may, at the Administrator's discretion, result in civil penalties of fifty dollars (\$50.00) to five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) per violation for each violation assessed severally against the provider accepting such fee and the employer paying the excessive fee, whenever a pattern or practice of such activity is found. At the Administrator's discretion, multiple violations by a provider may subject the provider to exclusion from participating in providing workers care under the Law.~~
- ~~(38)~~ [(40)] "Maximum fee" means the maximum allowable payment for a procedure established by this rule, the Medical Fee Schedule and the ~~in-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule.
- ~~(39)~~ [(41)] "Medical admission" means any hospital admission where the primary services rendered are not surgical or in an acute care hospital where the admission is to special unit such as inpatient psychiatric or rehab beds, or in a separately licensed psychiatric or rehabilitation hospital.
- ~~(40)~~ [(42)] "Medical Director" means the Bureau's Medical Director appointed by the Administrator pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-126.
- ~~(41)~~ [(43)] "Medical only case" means a case which does not involve lost work time.
- ~~(42)~~ [(44)] "Medical supply" means either a piece of durable medical equipment or an expendable medical supply.
- ~~(43)~~ [(45)] "Medicare Conversion Factor" is the amount in dollars [that Medicare multiplies by the relative value units (RVUs)] assigned to ~~an RVU that may be~~ [the procedure code to determine the fee. The RVUs are first multiplied by the Geographic Practice Cost Indices ("GPCI)" for Tennessee. Conversion factors are modified on a regular basis] ~~by Medicare. The specific [When referenced in the fee schedule, the conversion factor] is the one in effect on the date of service the final medical conversion factor for that date of service.~~ [When referenced in the fee schedule, or rate tables, the Medicare conversion factor used in the applicable rate table for the date of service shall be used.]
- ~~(44)~~ [(46)] "Modifier code" means a 2-digit number or alphabetical designation used in conjunction with the procedure code to describe circumstances, ~~as defined by CMS~~ which arise in the treatment of an injured or ill employee.
- ~~(45)~~ [(47)] "New patient" designation for billing purposes means a patient who is new to the provider according to the definitions used by Medicare on the date of service.
- ~~(46)~~ [(48)] "Operative report" means the practitioner's written description of the surgery and includes all of the following:

- (a) A preoperative diagnosis;
 - (b) A postoperative diagnosis;
 - (c) A step-by-step description of the surgery;
 - (d) An identification of problems which occurred during surgery;
 - (e) The condition of the patient, when leaving the operating room, the practitioner's office, or the health care organization.
- ~~(47)~~ [(49)] "Ophthalmologist" shall be defined according to T.C.A. § 71-4-102(3).
- ~~(48)~~ [(50)] "Optician" shall mean a licensed dispensing optician as set forth in T.C.A. § 63-14-103.
- ~~(49)~~ [(51)] "Optometrist" means an individual licensed to practice optometry.
- ~~(50)~~ [(52)] "Optometry" shall be defined according to T.C.A. § 63-8-102(12).
- ~~(51)~~ [(53)] "Orthotic equipment" means an orthopedic apparatus designed to support, align, prevent, correct deformities, or improve the function of a movable body part.
- ~~(52)~~ [(54)] "Orthotist" means a person skilled in the construction and application of orthotic equipment.
- ~~(53)~~ [(55)] "Outpatient service" means a service provided by the following, but not limited to, types of facilities: physicians' offices and clinics, hospital emergency rooms, hospital outpatient facilities, community mental health centers, outpatient psychiatric hospitals, outpatient psychiatric units, and freestanding surgical outpatient facilities also known as ambulatory surgical centers.
- ~~(54)~~ [(56)] "Package" means a surgical procedure that includes but is not limited to all of the following components:
- (a) The operation itself;
 - (b) Local infiltration;
 - (c) Topical anesthesia when used;
 - (d) The normal or global follow-up period and/or visits.
- ~~(55)~~ [(57)] "Pattern of practice" means repeated, similar violations over a three-year period of the ~~[Tennessee]~~ Medical Fee Schedule Rules.
- ~~(56)~~ [(58)] "Pharmacy" means the place where the science, art, and practice of preparing, preserving, compounding, dispensing, and giving appropriate instruction in the use of drugs is practiced and governed by the Board of Pharmacy.
- ~~(57)~~ [(59)] "Practitioner" means a person licensed, registered, or certified as an audiologist, chiropractic physician, doctor of dental surgery, doctor of medicine, doctor of osteopathy, doctor of podiatry, doctor of optometry, nurse, nurse anesthetist, nurse practitioner, occupational therapist, orthotist, pharmacist, physical therapist, physician assistant, prosthetist, psychologist, ~~[physical therapy assistant, occupational therapy assistant]~~ or other person licensed, registered, or certified as a health care professional, or their agents used to accomplish medical records, billing and payment transactions.
- ~~(58)~~ [(60)] "Preauthorization" for workers' compensation claims means that the employer prospectively or concurrently authorizes the payment of medical benefits. Preauthorization for workers' compensation claims does not mean that the employer accepts the claim or has made

a final determination on the compensability of the claim. Preauthorization for workers' compensation claims does not include utilization review.

~~(59)~~ [(61)] "Primary procedure" means the therapeutic procedure most closely related to the ~~principle~~ [principal] diagnosis.

~~(60)~~ [(62)] "Procedure" means a unit of health service.

~~(64)~~ [(63)] "Procedure code" means an alpha/numeric or numeric sequence used to identify a service performed and billed by a qualified provider.

~~(62)~~ [(64)] "Properly submitted and complete bill" means a request for a provider for payment of health care services submitted to the employer on the appropriate forms which are completed pursuant to this rule or the rules appropriate to electronic billing. To be properly submitted and complete, the bill shall:

(a) Identify:

1. The injured employee who received the service;
2. The employer and the responsible paying agent with information sufficient to contact the responsible party in case of a dispute or questions. This information shall be provided by the payer if the bill is adjusted, contested[,] or rejected and shall include a clear explanation of the reasons;
3. The health care provider with an IRS, NPI or other appropriate identifier;
4. The medical service product;
5. Other information required by the form;

(b) Include a valid MS-DRG, ~~Revenue Code~~ [revenue code], CPT® [code,] or HCPCS code as applicable;

(c) Include a[n] ICD-10-CM codes where necessary ~~shall be used by all parties~~;

(d) Have attached, in legible text, all supporting documentation required for the particular bill format, including, but not limited to, medical reports and records, evaluation reports, narrative reports, assessment reports, progress reports/notes, clinical notes, hospital records and diagnostic test results that may be expressly required by law or can reasonably be expected by the payer or its agent under the laws of Tennessee.

~~(63)~~ [(65)] "Prosthesis" means an artificial substitute for a missing body part.

~~(64)~~ [(66)] "Prosthetist" means a person skilled in the construction and application of prosthesis.

~~(65)~~ [(67)] "Provider" means a facility, health care organization, or a practitioner, or their agents to accomplish medical records, correspondences, billing and payment transactions.

[(68)] "Rate Table or Rate Tables" means the established fees for services provided by the Bureau and updated in accordance with these Rules.]

~~(66)~~ [(69)] "Reject" means that an employer denies partial or total payment to a provider or denies a provider's request for reconsideration. Notification of any full or partial rejection ~~must~~ [shall] be made within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the bill by the employer.

~~(67)~~ [(70)] "RVU" means relative value unit that is assigned under the Medicare Resource Based Relative Value System (RBRVS) [used in the rate tables] in effect on the date of service.

- ~~(68)~~ [(71)] "Secondary procedure" means a surgical procedure which is performed to ameliorate conditions that are found to exist during the performance of a primary surgery, and which is considered an independent procedure that may not be performed as a part of the primary surgery or for the existing condition, as defined by Medicare.
- ~~(69)~~ [(72)] "Stop-Loss Payment" or "SLP" means an independent method of payment for an inpatient hospital stay.
- ~~(70)~~ [(73)] "Stop-Loss Reimbursement Factor" or "SLRF" means a factor established by the Administrator to be used as a multiplier to establish a reimbursement amount when total hospital bills have exceeded specific stop-loss dollar thresholds.
- ~~(74)~~ [(74)] "Stop-Loss Threshold" or "SLT" means a dollar threshold of bills established by the Administrator, beyond which reimbursement is calculated by multiplying the applicable SLRF times the total dollars billed following that particular dollar threshold.
- ~~(72)~~ [(75)] "Surgical admission" means any hospital admission for which the patient has a surgical MS-DRG as defined by CMS.
- ~~(73)~~ [(76)] "Tennessee Specific Conversion Percentage" is a multiplier ~~to be~~ applied to an applicable service for an eligible medical specialty category. The appropriate medical specialty categories are listed in ~~Rule [Chapter] 0800-02-18-02(4)~~.
- ~~(74)~~ (77) "Timely filing of bills for medical services" means the period of time within which a request for payment from a provider ~~must~~ [shall] be billed consistent with Medicare guideline time limits.
- ~~(75)~~ (78) "Timely payment" means the period of time that the employer has to remit payment to the provider.
- ~~(76)~~ [(79)] "Transfer between facilities" means to move or remove a patient from one facility to another for a purpose related to obtaining or continuing medical care. The transfer may or may not involve a change in the admittance status of the patient, i.e., patient transported from one facility to another to obtain specific care, diagnostic testing, or other medical services not available in the facility in which the patient has been admitted. The transfer between facilities shall include costs related to transportation of patient to obtain medical care.
- ~~(77)~~ [(80)] "Usual and customary" (U&C) means eighty percent (80%) of a specific provider's billed charges.
- ~~(78)~~ [(81)] "CMS-1500[,] ~~or~~ CMS-1450, ~~UB04~~ [UB-04]", [their electronic equivalents] or their successors means the most recent industry standard health insurance claim forms maintained for use by medical care providers and institutions, including the ADA form for dentists and the NCPDP WC/PC UCF for pharmacies.
- ~~(79)~~ [(82)] "Utilization Review" means evaluation of the necessity, appropriateness, efficiency and quality of medical services, including the prescribing of one (1) or more Schedule II, III or IV controlled substances for pain management for a period of time exceeding ninety (90) days from the initial prescription of such controlled substances, provided to an injured or disabled employee based upon medically accepted standards and an objective evaluation of the medical care services provided; provided, that "utilization review" does not include the establishment of approved payment levels, a review of medical charges or fees, or an initial evaluation of an injured or disabled employee by a physician specializing in pain management. "Utilization review," also known as "Utilization management," does not include the evaluation or determination of causation or the compensability of a claim. For workers' compensation claims, "utilization review" is not a component of preauthorization. The employer shall be responsible for all costs associated with utilization review and shall in no event obligate the employee, health care provider or Bureau to pay for such services.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed December 20, 2007; effective March 4, 2008. Amendments filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Act” or “Act” references were changed to “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Law” or “Law.” Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.04 RESERVED.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-102 and 50-6-204.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Act” or “Act” references were changed to “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Law” or “Law.”

0800-02-17-.05 PROCEDURE CODES, ADOPTION OF THE CMS MEDICARE PROCEDURES, GUIDELINES[,] AND AMOUNTS[, RATE TABLES].

- (1) Services and medical supplies ~~must~~ [shall] be coded with valid procedure or supply codes of the ~~Health Care Financing Administration~~ [Healthcare] Common Procedure Coding System (“HCPCS”). ~~Procedure~~ [Level I HCPCS procedure] codes [(CPT® codes)] used in these rules were developed and copyrighted by the American Medical Association (“AMA”). [Level II HCPCS procedure codes used in these rules were developed by CMS.]
- (2) The editions adopted by CMS of the American Medical Association’s Current Procedural Terminology (“CPT®”), the Medicare MS-DRG table ~~and~~ [,] the Medicare RBRVS in effect on the date of service or date of discharge, and the National Correct Coding Initiative edits (“NCCI”) are incorporated in these Rules and shall be used in conjunction with these Rules. [NCCI also includes Medically Unlikely Edits (“MUE”) that identify a maximum number of units allowable under most circumstances for a single HCPCS or CPT® code billed on a date of service for a single patient. For more information, see <https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Coding/NationalCorrectCodInitEd/index> and <https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Coding/NationalCorrectCodInitEd/MUE>.]
- (3) Unless otherwise explicitly stated in these Rules, the ~~most current effective~~ Medicare procedures and guidelines [in effect on the date of service] are hereby adopted and incorporated as part of these Rules as if fully set out herein and are effective upon adoption and implementation by Medicare.
- (4) Whenever there is no specific fee or methodology for reimbursement set forth in these Rules [and rate tables], then the maximum amount of reimbursement shall be at 100% of the ~~current, effective~~ Medicare allowable amount. The ~~effective~~ Medicare guidelines and procedures [in effect] on the date of service shall be followed in arriving at the correct amount, subject to the requirements of Rule 0800-02-18-.02(4). The Medical Fee Schedule conversion factor and TN specific conversion percentages may be, upon review by the Administrator, adjusted periodically. ~~Whenever~~ [If] there is no ~~applicable~~ Medicare ~~code or methodology~~ [allowable amount,] the service, ~~equipment, diagnostic procedure, etc.~~ shall be reimbursed at the usual and customary amount as defined in Rule 0800-02-17-.03 of this Chapter.

- (5) Telehealth: the definitions, licensing and processes for the purpose of these rules shall be the same as adopted by the Tennessee Department of Health and Medicare. ~~Payments shall be the based upon the applicable Medicare guidelines and coding effective on the date of service for the different service providers with the exception of any geographic restriction. [The maximum reimbursement for services provided via telehealth is the lesser of billed charges or the amounts listed in this fee schedule. Services that are eligible to be provided via telehealth are identified with a star (★) in the rate tables.]~~
- [(6) The fee schedule, including rate tables, will be available free of charge in a standard downloadable format (pdf/excel) from a link provided on the bureau's website.]

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.06 PROCEDURES FOR WHICH CODES OR VALUES ARE NOT LISTED.

- (1) If a procedure is performed which is not listed in the ~~Medicare Resource Based Relative Value Scale ("RBRVS")~~ [rate tables], the health care provider ~~must~~ [shall] use an appropriate CPT® procedure code or revenue code, as applicable. The provider ~~must~~ [shall] submit an explanation, such as copies of operative reports, consultation reports, progress notes, office notes or other applicable documentation, or description of equipment or supply (when that is the bill).
- (2) The CPT® [book] contains procedure codes for unlisted procedures. These codes should only be used when there is no procedure code which accurately describes the service rendered. A special report is required. These services are reimbursed BR (~~by report~~ [By Report], see 0800-02-17-.03).
- (3) Where codes or other reports are listed with a dollar amount in these Rules, conversion to RVUs may be calculated by dividing the listed dollar amount by the Medicare Conversion Factor effective on the date of service. The Tennessee Specific Conversion Percentages are not applied to these codes or charges.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee filed a stay on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.07 MODIFIER CODES.

- (1) Modifiers ~~listed on the most current CPT®~~ shall be added to the procedure code when the service or procedure has been altered from the basic procedure described by the descriptor.

- ~~[(2) Tennessee state-specific modifiers listed in 0800-02-18 may be added to the procedure code when criteria set forth in chapter 18 have been met.]~~
- (2) ~~[(3)]~~ The use of modifiers does not imply or guarantee that a provider will receive reimbursement as billed. Reimbursement for modified services or procedures ~~must [shall]~~ be based on documentation of reasonableness and necessity and ~~must [shall]~~ be determined on a case-by-case basis. ~~[For more information on modifiers, see Chapter 0800-02-18.]~~
- ~~(3) When Modifier 21, 22, or 25 is used, a report explaining the medical necessity of the situation must be submitted to the employer. It is not appropriate to use Modifier 21, 22, or 25 for routine billing.~~
- ~~(4) The maximum allowable additional amount under this Rules for Modifier 22 is 50%, not to exceed billed charges of the primary procedure.~~

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Act” or “Act” references were changed to “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Law” or “Law.”

0800-02-17-.08 TOTAL PROCEDURES BILLED SEPARATELY.

- (1) Certain diagnostic procedures (neurological testing, radiology and pathology procedures, etc.) may be performed by two separate entities that also bill separately for the professional and technical components. When this occurs, the total reimbursement ~~must [shall]~~ not exceed the maximum medical fee schedule allowable for the procedure code listed.
- (a) When billing for the professional component only, ~~Modifier [modifier] 26 must [(Professional Component) shall]~~ be added to the appropriate procedure code.
- (b) When billing for the technical component only, ~~Modifier [modifier] TC (Technical Component) is to be added to the appropriate procedure code.~~

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-128, 50-6-204, and 50-6-205.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Act” or “Act” references were changed to “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Law” or “Law.”

0800-02-17-.09 INDEPENDENT MEDICAL EXAMINATION TO EVALUATE MEDICAL ASPECTS OF A CASE.

- ~~(1) An Independent Medical Examination, other than one conducted under the Bureau’s MIRR Program, shall include a study of previous history and medical care information, diagnostic studies, diagnostic x-rays, and laboratory studies, as well as an examination and evaluation. This service may be necessary in order to make a judgment regarding the current status of the injured or ill worker, or to determine the need for further health care.~~
- ~~(2) [(1)]~~ An Independent Medical Examination [“(IME”),] performed to evaluate the medical aspects of a case (other than one conducted under the Bureau’s MIRR Program), shall be billed using ~~the~~

~~appropriate independent medical examination procedure, [state-specific codes] and shall include the practitioner's time only. Time spent shall include [the office visit (]face-to-face time with the patient[)], time spent reviewing records, reports and studies, and time spent preparing reports. The office visit is included with the CPT@ code, 99456, and shall not be billed separately. The total amount for an IME under this Rule shall not exceed \$500.00 per hour, and shall be pro-rated per half hour, i.e. two and one-half hours may not exceed \$1,250.00. Physicians may only require pre-payment of \$500.00 for an IME provided that following the completion of the IME and report, the physician may bill for other amounts appropriately due. [State-specific code Z0610 shall be used to bill the first hour (shall not exceed \$500). State-specific code Z0611 shall be used to bill each additional half hour (shall not exceed \$250 per half hour). State-specific code Z0310-Impairment Rating (Form Completion) shall not be billed for IME services or in combination with codes Z0610 and Z0611, see 0800-02-17-.25.]~~

- ~~[(2) Prepayment for an Independent Medical Examination shall not exceed \$500.]~~
- (3) Any laboratory procedure, x-ray procedure, and any other test which is needed to establish the worker's ability to return to work shall be identified by the appropriate procedure code established by this Rule and reimbursed accordingly.
- ~~(4) Physicians who perform consultant services and/or records review in order to determine whether to accept a new patient shall not bill for an IME. Rather, such physicians shall bill using CPT@ codes 99358 and 99359. The reimbursement shall be \$200.00 for the first hour of review and \$100.00 for each additional hour, provided that each half hour shall be pro-rated. Any prepayment request may not exceed \$200.00. Violations are subject to the penalties in section 0800-02-17-.13.~~

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendments filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee filed a stay on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.10 PAYMENT.

- (1) ~~Reimbursement~~ [Unless a waiver is obtained from the Administrator, reimbursement] for all health care services and supplies shall be the lesser of (a) the provider's usual billed charge, (b) the [fees listed in the rate tables in the Fee Schedule, after applying any applicable modifiers, methodologies, or exceptions set forth in these Rules; or 100% of the Medicare rate if the code is not listed in the rate tables, or the methodology is not set forth in these Rules or (c)] ~~the maximum fee calculated according to these Rules (and/or any amendments to these Rules) or~~ (d) the agreed contracted or published rate between the provider and the MCO/PPO pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-215. A licensed provider or institution shall receive no more than the maximum allowable payment, in accordance with these Rules, for appropriate health care services rendered to a person who is entitled to health care services under the Law. Any provider reimbursed or employer paying an amount which is in excess of these Rules shall have a period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from the time of receipt/payment of such excessive payment in which to refund/recover the overpayment amount. Overpayments refunded/recovered within this time period shall not constitute a violation under these Rules.
- ~~(2) The edition of the Medicare RBRVS: The Physicians' Guide in effect on the date of service or date of discharge is adopted by reference as part of these Rules. The Medicare RBRVS is distributed by the American Medical Association and by the Office of the Federal Register and~~

~~is also available on the Internet at www.cms.hhs.gov/home/medicare.asp.~~ Whenever a guideline or procedure is not set forth in these Rules, the Medicare guidelines and procedures in effect on the date of service shall be followed.

- (3) When extraordinary services resulting from severe head injuries, major burns, severe neurological injuries or any injury requiring an extended period of intensive care are required, a greater fee may be allowed up to 150% of the professional service fees normally allowed under these Rules. Such cases shall be billed with modifier ~~21 or~~ 22 (for CPT® coded procedures) and shall contain a detailed written description of the extraordinary service rendered and the need therefore. This provision does not apply to ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Care facility fees which are specifically addressed in the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, Chapter 0800-02-19.
- (4) Billing for provider services shall be submitted on industry standard billing forms; UB-04, CMS-1450, CMS-1500, the ADA form for dental providers, and the NCPDP WC/PC UCF for pharmacies, [their electronic equivalent,] or their official replacement forms. Electronic billing submissions shall be in accord with the Bureau's rules for electronic billing.
- (5) An employer's payment shall reflect any adjustments in the bill, subject to the following:
 - (a) Whenever the employer's reimbursement differs from the amount billed by the provider, the employer/adjuster/bill review organization shall provide an explanation of medical benefits with current and complete contact information to the health care provider. Industry standard remark codes and a clear reason for the adjustment shall be provided.
 - (b) A provider shall not attempt to collect from the injured employee or from the employer any amounts properly reduced by the employer.
 - (c) All such communications shall comply with all applicable Medicare and HIPAA requirements.
 - (d) Remittances for electronically submitted bills shall be in accordance with the Bureau's rules for electronic billing.
- (6) All providers and carriers shall use electronic billing and EDI, if they have the capability to do so. All such communications shall comply with all applicable Medicare and HIPAA requirements.
- (7) An employer shall date stamp medical bills and reports not submitted electronically upon receipt. Payment for a properly submitted and complete bill not disputed within [fifteen (15)] business days (or uncontested portions of the bill) shall be made to the provider within thirty [(30)] calendar days.
- (8) The employer shall notify the provider within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the bill that it was not properly submitted and specify the reason(s).
- (9) When an employer disputes a bill submitted on paper or portion thereof, the employer shall pay the undisputed portion of the paper bill within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of a properly submitted paper bill. For the time frames applicable to ~~e-billing~~ [electronic billing] see Rule 0800-02-26-.06.
- (10) A provider shall request the employer to reconsider a disputed bill (or portion of a bill) within thirty (30) days of receiving notification from the employer that the bill was not properly submitted. The employer shall complete the review of the reconsideration and notify the provider of the determination within thirty (30) days of receiving the request for reconsideration. ~~The employer is not obligated to review a provider's request for reconsideration if received later than thirty (30) days.~~
- (11) Any provider not receiving timely payment of the undisputed portion of the provider's bill may

institute a collection action against the employer in a state court having proper jurisdiction over such matters to obtain payment of the bill.

- (12) Billings not submitted on the proper form, as prescribed in these Rules, the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, and the Medical Fee Schedule Rules, may be returned to the provider for correction and resubmission. If an employer returns such billings, it ~~must~~ [shall] do so within [fifteen (15)] business days of receipt of the bill. The number of days between the date the employer returns the billing to the provider and the date the employer receives the corrected billing, shall not apply toward the thirty (30) calendar days within which the employer is required to make payment. The rules for electronic billing shall apply to the types of forms where applicable.
- (13) Payments to providers for initial examinations and treatment authorized by the carrier or employer shall be paid by that employer and shall not later be subject to reimbursement by the employee, even if the injury or condition for which the employee was sent to the provider is later determined non-compensable under the Law.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendments filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendments filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee filed a stay on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.11 REIMBURSEMENT FOR EMPLOYEE-PAID SERVICES.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this rule, if an employee has personally paid for a health care service and at a later date an employer is determined to be responsible for the payment for that specific service, then the employee shall be fully reimbursed by the employer. Medical Fee Schedule maximum payments may not apply under this provision. If the service delivered is determined to be reasonable and necessary, the reimbursed expenses may exceed the maximum fee schedule amount.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-128, 50-6-204, and 50-6-205.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-.12 RECOVERY OF PAYMENT.

Nothing in these Rules shall preclude the recovery of payment already made for services and bills which may later be found to have been medically paid at an amount which exceeds the maximum allowable payment. Likewise, nothing in these Rules shall preclude any provider from receiving additional payment for services or supplies if it is properly due that provider and does not exceed the amount allowed by these Rules.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, 50-6-226, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006;

effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee stayed the amendment on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-.13 PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF FEE SCHEDULE RULES.

- (1) Except when a waiver has been granted by the Bureau, providers shall not accept and employers shall not pay any amount for health care services provided for the treatment of a covered injury or illness or for any other services encompassed within these Rules, Medical Fee Schedule Rules or the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, when that amount exceeds the maximum allowable payment established by these Rules. Any provider accepting and any employer paying an amount in excess of these Rules, Medical Fee Schedule Rules or the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules, shall be in violation of these Rules and may, at the Administrator's discretion, be subject to civil penalties of not less than fifty dollars (\$50.00) nor more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) per violation, which may be assessed severally against the provider accepting such fee and the employer paying the excessive fee, except as authorized pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-204, whenever a pattern or practice of such activity is found. Any provider reimbursed or employer paying an amount which is in excess of these Rules shall have a period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from the time of receipt/payment of such excessive payment in which to refund/recover the overpayment amount. Overpayments refunded/recovered within this time period shall not constitute a violation under these Rules. At the discretion of the Administrator, the Administrator's Designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator, such provider may also be reported to the appropriate certifying board and may be subject to exclusion from participating in providing care under the Law. Any other violation of ~~the~~ these Rules, Medical Fee Schedule Rules, or the ~~In-patient~~ [Inpatient] Hospital Fee Schedule Rules shall subject the violator(s) to a civil penalty of not less than fifty dollars (\$50.00) nor more [than] five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) per violation, at the discretion of the Administrator, Administrator's Designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator.
- (2) A provider or employer found to be in violation of these Rules, may request a contested case hearing by requesting the hearing in writing within fifteen (15) business days of issuance of a Notice of Violation and, if applicable, notice of the assessment of civil penalties. If a request for hearing is not received by the Bureau within the fifteen (15) business days of issuance of the Notice of Violation, the determination of such violation shall be deemed a final order of the Bureau and not subject to further review. All rights, duties, obligations, and procedures applicable under the Bureau's Rules for Penalty Assessments and Hearing Contested Cases (Chapter 0800-02-13) are applicable under these Rules, including, but not limited to, the right to judicial review of any final Bureau decision.
- (3) A request for hearing shall be made to the Bureau in writing by an employer or provider notified of violation of these Rules.
- (4) Any request for a hearing shall be filed with the Bureau within fifteen (15) business days of the date of issuance of the Notice of Violation and, if applicable, of civil penalty. Failure to file a request for a hearing within fifteen (15) business days of the date of issuance of the Notice of Violation shall result in the decision of the Administrator, Administrator's Designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator becoming a final order and not subject to further review.
- (5) The Administrator, Administrator's Designee, or an agency member appointed by the Administrator shall have the authority to hear the matter as a contested case and determine if any civil penalty assessed should have been assessed. All procedural aspects set forth in the Bureau's Rules for Penalty Assessment and Hearing Contested Cases, Chapter 0800-02-13, shall apply and be followed in any such contested case hearing.

- (6) Upon receipt of a timely filed request for a hearing, the Administrator shall issue a Notice of Hearing to all interested parties.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-118, 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-.14 MISSED APPOINTMENT.

A provider shall ~~not~~ receive payment for a missed appointment ~~unless [if]~~ the appointment was arranged by the Bureau, the case manager, or employer. ~~If [and]~~ the case manager or employer fails to cancel the appointment not less than one (1) business day prior to the time of the appointment, ~~the~~. ~~The~~ provider may bill the employer [up to \$200] for the missed appointment using ~~CPT@ procedure [state-specific] code [Z0110 for a new patient visit] 99199, with a maximum fee being the amount which would have been allowed under these Rules had the patient not missed the appointment. The employer shall make payment to the provider for the missed appointment pursuant to these Rules. [For an established patient, the provider may bill up to \$100 using state-specific code Z0111. The provider] This amount shall not [receive payment] include any bill for diagnostic testing [or other services] that would have been billed [had the patient attended the appointment]. Follow-up appointments are deemed to be approved unless the adjuster notifies the provider's office and the injured employee more than one business day prior to the appointment.~~

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-.15 MEDICAL REPORT OF INITIAL VISIT AND PROGRESS REPORTS FOR OTHER THAN ~~IN-PATIENT~~ [INPATIENT] HOSPITAL CARE.

- (1) Except for inpatient hospital care, a provider shall furnish the employer with a narrative medical report for the initial visit, all information pertinent to the compensable injury, illness, or occupational disease if requested within thirty (30) calendar days after examination or treatment of the injured employee.
- (2) If the provider continues to treat an injured or ill employee who is receiving temporary disability payments (total or partial) for the same compensable injury, illness or occupational disease, the provider shall provide an updated medical report to the employer, including an assessment of functional progress toward employment (restricted or unrestricted as appropriate), at intervals not to exceed sixty (60) calendar days.
- (3) The narrative medical report or the medical office visit note including an assessment of functional progress toward employment, of the initial visit and the progress or follow-up visit shall include (in addition to applicable identifying information) all of the following information:

- (a) Subjective complaints and objective findings, including interpretation of diagnostic tests;
 - (b) For the narrative medical report of the initial visit, the history of the injury, and for the progress report(s), significant history since the last submission of a progress report and the diagnosis;
 - (c) As of the date of the narrative medical report or progress report, the projected treatment plan, including the type, frequency, and estimated length of treatment;
 - (d) Physical limitations and expected work restrictions and length of time of those limitations and/or restrictions if applicable.
- (4) When copies of narrative medical reports required by 0800-02-17-.15(1) and (2) are requested, the provider of the requested reports shall be reimbursed at the following rates using code ~~99080~~ [Z0710]: initial and subsequent reports - not to exceed \$10-~~00~~ for reports twenty (20) pages or less in length, and twenty-five (25) cents per page after the first twenty pages. No charge is allowed for routine office notes as these are not considered narrative reports under this Rule. No fee shall be paid if a request for medical records does not produce any records.
- (5) A medical provider shall complete any medical report required by the Bureau without charge except completion of the C-30A (Final Medical Report) or the C-32 (Standard Form Medical Report) or their replacement forms.
- (6) After an initial opinion on causation has been issued by the physician, a request for a subsequent review based upon new information not available to the physician initially, may be billed [charged] by the physician and paid by the requesting party ~~under CPT@ codes 99358 and 99359~~ [using state-specific code Z0210] (\$200/ [for] one hour or less) and state-specific code Z0211 (\$100 for ~~an extra~~ [each additional] hour). No additional reimbursement is due for the initial opinion on causation or a response to a request for clarification (that does not include any new information) of a previously issued opinion on causation.
- (7) Extra time spent in explanation or discussion with an injured worker or the case manager (that is separate from the discussion with the injured worker) may be charged ~~using CPT@ code 99354-52 up to a maximum payment of forty dollars (\$40), added to a standard E/M CPT@ code if the extra service exceeds 15 minutes. Use code 99354 up to a maximum of eighty dollars (\$80) if that extra service exceeds 30 minutes. The Medicare allowable fee does not apply to the service. There is no extra reimbursement if the service is less than 15 minutes~~ [on the same day as an office visit charge provided the extra time is equal to or greater than fifteen (15) minutes. State-specific code Z0410 shall be used for thirty (30) minutes or less (\$40 for 15-30 minutes). State-specific code Z0411 shall be used for greater than thirty (30) minutes (\$80 for 31 minutes or greater). The physician may charge for consultation with a case manager using the appropriate consultation or team conference CPT@ code, when not on the same day as an office visit].
- (8) ~~If a provider assesses, counsels or provides~~ [Extra time spent assessing, counseling or providing] behavioral intervention to a Workers' Compensation patient for substance and/or alcohol use, or for substance and/or alcohol use disorder, ~~the provider~~ may [be charged on the same day as an office visit] charge ~~for the extra time involved~~ using CPT@ [state-specific] code ~~99408~~ [Z0510] up to a maximum of eighty dollars (\$80) in addition to a standard E/M code. An assessment by structured screening ~~must~~ [shall] be documented. The code may only be charged if the patient is on a long term (over 90 days) Schedule II medication or a [long term (over 90 days)] combination of one or more Schedule II, III, and/or IV medications. ~~The Medicare allowable fee does not apply to this service.~~

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006;

effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.

0800-02-17-.16 ADDITIONAL RECORDS.

Nothing in this rule shall preclude an employer or an employee from requesting reports from a provider in addition to those specified in Rule 0800-02-17-.15.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: *Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."*

0800-02-17-.17 DEPOSITION/WITNESS APPEARANCES.

- (1) Any provider who gives a deposition or appears in person as a witness shall be allowed a fee. The fee for appearance in person as a witness should be negotiated and agreed to in advance.
- (2) ~~Procedure Code [CPT®] code 99075~~ **must [shall]** be used to bill for a deposition.
- (3) Licensed physicians shall be reimbursed for depositions at the rate established in Bureau's Rule Chapter 0800-02-16 and shall be subject to penalties under these Rules for charging any amount which exceeds that amount.
- (4) Other providers giving depositions shall be reimbursed at a fee at or below the fee for a licensed physician agreed to in advance.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: *Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."*

0800-02-17-.18 OUT-OF-STATE PROVIDERS.

Upon waiver granted by the Bureau, providers rendering medically appropriate care outside of the state of Tennessee to an injured employee pursuant to the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law may be paid in accordance with the medical fee schedule, law, and rules governing in the jurisdiction where such medically appropriate care is provided.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-205.

Administrative History: *Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."*

0800-02-17-.19 PREAUTHORIZATION.

- (1) Preauthorization shall be required for all non-emergency hospitalizations, non-emergency transfers between facilities, and non-emergency surgery. Decisions regarding authorization shall be communicated to the requesting provider within seven (7) business days of the request being received. Failure to provide a timely decision within seven (7) business days shall result in the authorization being deemed approved.
- (2) If a provider makes a written request by fax or e-mail (and receives acknowledgement of receipt of the request) for authorization for a treatment at least ~~twenty-one (21)~~ business days in advance of the anticipated date that treatment is to be delivered and has not been notified of a denial or modification in writing or confirmed telephone call or confirmed fax at least ~~seven (7)~~ business days in advance of the date of the proposed treatment, it is presumed to be medically necessary, a covered service, and to be paid for by the employer.
- (3) If a provider makes a verbal request for authorization, the burden of proof for showing that authorization was granted by the employer rests with the provider.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-118, 50-6-125, 50-6-128, 50-6-204, and 50-6-205.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Act” or “Act” references were changed to “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Law” or “Law.”

0800-02-17-.20 RESERVED.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-102, 50-6-122, 50-6-124, 50-6-204, 50-6-205, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendments filed December 20, 2007; effective March 4, 2008. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendment filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee filed a stay on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Act” or “Act” references were changed to “Tennessee Workers’ Compensation Law” or “Law.”

0800-02-17-.21 PROCESS FOR RESOLVING DISPUTES BETWEEN EMPLOYERS AND PROVIDERS REGARDING BILLS.**(4) Disputes**

- (a) [(1)]** Unresolved disputes between an employer and provider concerning bills due to conflicting interpretation of these Rules and/or the Medical Fee Schedule Rules and/or the ~~In-patient~~ **[Inpatient]** Hospital Fee Schedule Rules may be submitted to the Medical Payment Committee (the Committee) on or after July 1, 2014[,] in accordance with the provisions in T.C.A. § 50-6-125. A request for Committee Review may be submitted on the form posted by the Bureau within one (1) year of the date of service to: Medical Director of the Bureau of Workers’ Compensation, Tennessee Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Suite 1-B, 220 French Landing Drive, Nashville, Tennessee

37243, or any subsequent address as prescribed by the Bureau.

- (b) [(2)] Valid requests for Committee Review ~~must~~ [shall] be accompanied by the form prescribed by the Bureau, ~~must~~ [shall] be legible and complete, and ~~must~~ [shall] contain copies of the following:
- 1- [(a)] Copies of the original and resubmitted bills in dispute which include dates of service, procedure codes, bills for services rendered and any payment received, and an explanation of unusual services or circumstances;
 - 2- [(b)] Copies of all explanations of benefit (EOB's);
 - 3- [(c)] Supporting documentation and correspondence, if any;
 - 4- [(d)] Specific information regarding the contacts made with the employer;
 - 5- [(e)] A verified or declared written medical report signed by the provider and all pertinent medical records; and
 - 6- [(f)] A redacted copy of the above information removing all patient specific identifying information.
- (c) [(3)] The party requesting Committee Review ~~must~~ [shall] send a copy of the request and all documentation accompanying the request to the opposing party at the same time it is submitted to the Medical Director.
- (d) [(4)] If the request for review does not contain proper documentation, then the Committee will decline to review the dispute. Likewise, if the timeframe in this Rule is not met, then the Committee will decline to review the dispute, but such failure shall not provide an independent basis for denying payment or recovery of payment.
- (e) [(5)] Resubmission of a request will be entertained by the Bureau and the Medical Payment ~~e~~[C]ommittee for ~~three (3) months~~ [90 calendar days] from the date the Committee declined to hear the original dispute but only if pertinent or new information is forwarded with the resubmission.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendments filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendments filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee filed a stay on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-22 COMMITTEE REVIEW OF FEE SCHEDULE DISPUTES/HEARINGS.

- (1) Medical Payment Committee (the Committee) Review Procedure:
 - (a) When a valid request for Committee Review is received by the Bureau's Medical Director, the parties will be notified at least [seven (7)] business days in advance when the Committee will consider the dispute. The Committee may consider the dispute at any meeting during which it has a quorum of the voting members. Members may participate by telephone or by video conferencing or by properly executed proxy. Members that participate by telephone or video conferencing or properly executed proxy shall be

counted as present for purposes of establishing a quorum.

- (b) The parties will have the opportunity to submit documentary evidence and present arguments to the Committee prior to and during the Committee meeting in which the dispute will be heard. Written submissions to the committee ~~must~~ [shall] be received by the Bureau at least one week in advance of the meeting. A redacted copy of all written material ~~must~~ [shall] be included with any submission.
 - (c) The Committee shall consider the dispute and issue its decision on the merits as to the proper resolution of the dispute, based upon a simple majority vote of the members present for the purpose of a quorum. If the dispute cannot be decided in one meeting, then the Committee may continue it to the next meeting.
 - (d) If the parties to the dispute do not follow the decision of the Committee, then either party may proceed in any court of law with proper jurisdiction to decide the dispute.
- (2) Computation of Time Periods:

In computing a period of time prescribed or allowed by the Rules, the day of the act, event or default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last day on which compliance therewith is required shall be included. If the last day within which an act shall be performed or an appeal filed is a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday, the day shall be excluded, and the period shall run until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday. "Legal holiday" means those days designated as a Tennessee State holiday.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-23 RESERVED.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-102, 50-6-204, 50-6-205, 50-6-226, and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-24 PROVIDER AND FACILITY FEES FOR COPIES OF MEDICAL RECORDS.

- (1) Health care providers and facilities are entitled to recover an amount in accordance with Tenn. Code Ann. § 50-6-204 to cover the cost of copying documents requested by the employer, employee, attorneys, etc. [State-specific code Z0710 shall be used when billing for copies.] Documentation which is submitted by the provider and/or facility, but was not specifically requested by the employer, shall not be allowed a copy charge. The cost set forth in this subsection shall also apply to paper records transmitted on a disc or by other electronic means based upon the number of pages reproduced on the disc or other media.

- (2) Health care providers and facilities shall furnish an injured employee or the employee's attorney and employer or their legal representatives copies of records and reports as set forth in Tenn. Code Ann. § 50-6-204, as amended.
- (3) Health care providers and facilities shall be reimbursed up to the usual and customary amount, as defined in these Rules at 0800-02-.03, for copying ~~x-rays~~ [X-rays], microfilm or other non-paper records. [State-specific code Z0710 shall be used when billing for copies.]
- (4) The copying charge shall be paid by the party who requests the records.
- (5) An itemized invoice shall accompany the copy. Payment of all charges shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days.
- (6) There shall be no fee paid should a requested search not produce identified records.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Public necessity rule filed June 5, 2005; effective through November 27, 2005. Public necessity rule filed November 16, 2005; effective through April 30, 2006. Original rule filed February 3, 2006; effective April 19, 2006. Amendments filed March 12, 2012; to have been effective June 10, 2012. The Government Operations Committee filed a stay on May 7, 2012; new effective date August 9, 2012. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law."

0800-02-17-.25 IMPAIRMENT RATINGS-EVALUATIONS AND IN MEDICAL RECORDS.

- (1) This rule applies to authorized treating physicians. This rule is not applicable to Independent Medical Examinations ("IME") or impairment ratings rendered as a part of an IME pursuant to Rule 0800-02-17-.09. As used in this Rule 0800-02-17-.25 only, an authorized treating physician is that physician, chiropractor or medical practitioner who determines the employee has reached maximum medical improvement regarding the condition or injury for which the physician has provided treatment. The authorized treating physician may include any of the following:
 - (a) A physician chosen from the panel required by T.C.A. § 50-6-204;
 - (b) A physician referred to by the physician chosen from the panel required by T.C.A. § 50-6-204;
 - (c) A physician recognized and authorized by the employer to treat an injured employee for a work-related injury; or
 - (d) A physician designated by the Bureau to treat an injured employee for a work-related injury.
- (2) The authorized treating physician is required and responsible for determining the employee's maximum medical improvement ~~date~~ (MMI) [date] and providing the employee's impairment rating for the injury the physician is treating. In some circumstances, a work-related accident may lead to multiple injuries that require multiple authorized treating physicians. In such cases, the physician that is treating a distinct injury shall determine that the employee has reached maximum medical improvement as to that injury only and is required and responsible for providing an impairment rating for that injury only. An authorized treating physician shall not be required or responsible for providing an impairment rating for an injury that the physician is not treating. The authorized treating physician shall only be required to provide an impairment rating when the physician believes in good faith that the employee retains a permanent impairment upon reaching maximum medical improvement. If, after completion of the rating, it is determined

that the employee has an impairment rating of zero, then the provisions of Rule 0800-02-17-.25(6) shall still apply. If the treating physician does not have a good faith belief that the employee retains a permanent impairment upon reaching maximum medical improvement, then the authorized treating physician shall still be required to complete an impairment rating on the Bureau's form but shall not charge a fee for the impairment rating.

- (3) All impairment ratings shall be made pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-204.
- (4) Within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the date the authorized treating physician determines the employee has reached maximum medical improvement, the authorized treating physician shall submit to the employer a fully completed report on a form prescribed by the Administrator. The employer shall submit a fully completed form to the Bureau (if requested) and the parties within thirty (30) calendar days of the date the authorized treating physician determines the employee has reached maximum medical improvement.
- (5) Upon determination of the employee's impairment rating, the authorized treating physician shall enter the employee's impairment rating into the employee's medical records. In a response to a request for medical records pursuant to T.C.A. § 50-6-204, a provider, authorized treating physician or hospital shall include the portion of the medical records that includes the impairment rating.
- (6) The authorized treating physician is required and responsible for providing the impairment rating, fully completing the report on a form prescribed by the Administrator, and submitting the report to the employer, ~~as required by these Rules, using CPT@ code 99455[.]~~ Notwithstanding Rule 0800-02-17-.15, the authorized treating physician shall receive payment of no more than \$250-00 for these services to be paid by the employer. ~~[State-specific code Z0310 (up to \$250) shall be used for charges related to the completion of the prescribed form.]~~ The payment shall only be made to the authorized treating physician, if the authorized treating physician documents the consultation with the applicable AMA Guides™ ~~(documentation of the analysis including section, page, or table as applicable).~~ ~~[The analysis shall include documentation of the section, page, or table as applicable, as well as a description of the reasoning and methodology based upon the medical records. The fee is payable even if the analysis results in a Zero impairment rating. The physician may bill for an office visit, in addition to Z0310, using the appropriate CPT code for services provided on the same day.]~~
- (7) Failure to fully complete the form and submit it within the appropriate timeframes may, at the discretion of the Administrator, subject the employer or authorized treating physician, as applicable, to a civil penalty of \$100 for every fifteen (15) calendar days past the required date until the fully completed form is received by the parties and the Bureau (if requested).

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 50-6-204 and 50-6-233.

Administrative History: Original rule filed December 20, 2007; effective March 4, 2008. Public necessity rule filed January 8, 2009; effective through June 22, 2009. Public necessity rule filed May 19, 2009; effective through October 31, 2009. Amendment filed June 12, 2009; effective August 26, 2009. Amendment filed December 26, 2013; effective March 26, 2014. Repeal and new rules filed November 27, 2017; effective February 25, 2018. Amendments filed June 12, 2019; effective September 10, 2019. Administrative changes made to this chapter on September 10, 2019; "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Act" or "Act" references were changed to "Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law" or "Law." Amendments filed June 28, 2021; effective September 26, 2021.